Institute for Fiscal Studies

IFS Report

IFS

Pedro Carneiro Sarah Cattan Gabriella Conti Claire Crawford Christine Farquharson Nick Ridpath

The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes





The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

Pedro Carneiro Sarah Cattan Gabriella Conti Claire Crawford Christine Farquharson Nick Ridpath

Copy-edited by Judith Payne

Published by The Institute for Fiscal Studies

7 Ridgmount Street London WC1E 7AE +44 (0)20 7291 4800 <u>mailbox@ifs.org.uk</u> <u>http://www.ifs.org.uk/</u> <u>@TheIFS</u>

© The Institute for Fiscal Studies, May 2025

ISBN 978-1-80103-224-7

Preface

This report provides a detailed overview of the short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start across a wide range of outcomes. It follows on from Cattan, Conti, Farquharson, Ginja and Pecher (2021) on the effect of Sure Start on hospitalisations, Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024) on the effect of Sure Start on educational outcomes and Carneiro, Cattan, Conti, Crawford, Drayton, Farquharson and Ridpath (2024) on the effect of Sure Start on youth offending, behaviour in school and interactions with children's social care. For several outcomes across the reports, the methodology has been updated, which means some results have changed compared with prior reports. This report is therefore intended to supersede the earlier reports. A full outline of the changes to the methodology and the results can be found in Section A.2 of the appendix.

The authors are grateful for funding from the Nuffield Foundation (grant EDO /FR-000000372). The Nuffield Foundation is an independent charitable trust with a mission to advance social well-being. It funds research that informs social policy, primarily in Education, Welfare and Justice. The Nuffield Foundation is the founder and co-founder of the Nuffield Council on Bioethics, the Ada Lovelace Institute and the Nuffield Family Justice Observatory. The Nuffield Foundation has funded this project, but the views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily the Foundation. Bluesky: @nuffieldfoundation.org | LinkedIn: Nuffield Foundation | Website: <u>nuffieldfoundation.org</u>. Co-funding from the ESRC-funded Centre for the Microeconomic Analysis of Public Policy (ES/T014334/1) is gratefully acknowledged.

This work contains statistical data from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) which are Crown Copyright. The use of the ONS statistical data in this work does not imply the endorsement of the ONS in relation to the interpretation or analysis of the statistical data. This work uses research datasets which may not exactly reproduce National Statistics aggregates. Analysis was carried out in the Secure Research Service, part of the Office for National Statistics.

We thank NHS Digital for providing access to the Hospital Episode Statistics under data sharing agreement CON-305762-B8S7B. This paper has been screened to ensure no confidential information is revealed.

Contents

Exe	ecutiv	e summary5			
1.	Introduction				
2.	History of Sure Start				
	2.1	The roll-out of Sure Start			
	2.2	Sure Start services			
3.	Potential effects on children's development				
	3.1	Potential impacts on test scores			
	3.2	Potential impacts on hospitalisations			
	3.3	Potential impacts on absences			
	3.4	Potential impacts on crime and school exclusions			
	3.5	Potential impacts on specialist services			
4.	Data	Data and methodology			
	4.1	Data			
	4.2	Empirical approaches			
5.	Effe	cts on school outcomes			
	5.1	Educational attainment			
	5.2	Special educational needs			
6.	Effe	cts on hospitalisations and health 42			
	6.1	Any-cause hospitalisations			
	6.2	Cause-specific hospitalisations			
	6.3	Authorised absences from school			
7.	Effects on behaviour				
	7.1	Youth offending			
	7.2	Unauthorised absences and school exclusions			
8.	Effe	cts on interactions with children's social care			
9.	Effe	cts of Sure Start by subgroup of the population			
	9.1	Effects by household income and deprivation			
	9.2	Effects by gender			
	9.3	Effects by ethnicity			

10.	Effects of Sure Start by centre context				
	10.1	Effects by type of neighbourhood	72		
	10.2	Effects by type of centre	75		
11.	Cost-b	enefit analysis	79		
	11.1	Who was affected by Sure Start?	79		
	11.2	Effects of Sure Start on the exchequer	81		
	11.3	Benefits to individuals from Sure Start	84		
	11.4	Comparing costs and benefits	85		
	11.5	Potential limitations	87		
12.	Summa	ry and policy implications	89		
	12.1	Summary of results	89		
	12.2	Lessons for policy	92		
Арр	oendix		95		
Ref	erences.		104		

Executive summary

Sure Start was the first large government initiative to provide area-based holistic support to families with children under the age of 5 in England. It did so through a network of 'one-stop shops', which brought together a range of services to support local families with the aim of enhancing the development and life chances of children under 5. These services included health services, parenting support, early learning and childcare, and parental employment support.

Introduced in 1999, Sure Start initially targeted highly disadvantaged neighbourhoods. Five years later, the 10-Year Strategy for Childcare called for 'a Children's Centre in every community', transforming the initiative into a universal service and growing the network to over 3,000 centres by 2010. At its peak in 2009–10, Sure Start accounted for £2.7 billion of public spending (in 2023–24 prices), around 30% of overall spending on programmes for the under-5s. But in the decade since, the context has been one of funding cuts, consolidation and centre closures, with funding falling by almost two-thirds by 2017–18.

The introduction of the Family Hubs and Start for Life programme in 2022–23 – which also seeks to join up family support services, though for children aged 0–19 and not necessarily all within an actual centre – means that understanding whether, for which children and in which situations integrated service provision is effective remains an important and topical policy issue.

This report brings together the findings of a comprehensive programme of work that IFS has led on the short- and medium-term impacts of Sure Start on children's outcomes. At the time this research started, there was little evidence on whether Sure Start had benefited children, especially beyond early childhood. Using a robust evaluation methodology and a suite of administrative datasets, this research produced estimates of the impact of having had access to a Sure Start centre between ages 0 and 4 on a wide range of outcomes, including educational attainment, hospitalisations, youth offending, special educational needs and interactions with children's social care. For most outcomes, we trace out impacts on outcomes from early childhood through adolescence, so well beyond when children were eligible to access the centre. This capstone report brings these results together and produces a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis of the programme.

An important feature of the research is that, across outcomes, it estimates the causal impact of Sure Start centres on the outcomes of children who 'had access' to a centre in their early years relative to those who did not. This approach is highly policy-relevant for a programme such as Sure Start whose services were open to all within a community. But it requires defining what having 'access' or not means. For most outcomes, we define access as living within a prampushing distance of 2.5 kilometres of a centre. For hospitalisations, the data are such that we must use another definition, which is the number of centres within a local authority (per 1,000 children aged 0–4). Across both of these definitions of 'access', our results speak to the effects of expanding Sure Start provision to give more families and children access to the programme.

Sure Start benefited children and young people's health and education

The initial aim of Sure Start was to improve the health and life chances of young children, with a focus on promoting 'the physical, intellectual and social development of the children served' (HM Treasury, 1998). The effect of Sure Start on outcomes that can be clearly linked to these aims, such as educational attainment in school and hospitalisations, was overwhelmingly positive.

- Access to a Sure Start centre between the ages of 0 and 4 significantly improved the educational achievement of children, with benefits lasting at least until GCSEs (age 16). Children with access to Sure Start defined as those who lived within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre performed significantly better in assessments at ages 7, 11 and 16. Exposure to Sure Start also increased the proportion of children meeting the common GCSE benchmark of five GCSEs at grades A*–C by 0.9 percentage points, an increase of around 2%.
- Greater Sure Start coverage (as measured by the number of centres per 1,000 children under 5 in a local authority) substantially reduced hospitalisations during childhood and adolescence. While hospitalisations increased by 10% of the baseline at age 1, they fell by 8.5% of their baseline by age 15 (the final age we study). At a national level, this means that at its peak Sure Start led to an additional 6,700 hospitalisations of 1-year-olds each year, but averted over 13,150 hospitalisations of 11- to 15-year-olds annually.





Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure ES.2. Effect of Sure Start on the probability of hospitalisation by age

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

Sure Start had mixed impacts on children's socio-emotional and behavioural outcomes

The Sure Start offer could have affected children's socio-emotional and behavioural development through a number of channels: by providing direct care (e.g. through early education and childcare), by supporting family functioning and the home environment, and/or by changing peer groups. While the aim of Sure Start was to improve children's well-being, some channels may have led to a positive impact while others may have had a negative impact.

In this report, we study a range of outcomes, some of which are strongly related to socioemotional and behavioural development. These results suggest that Sure Start had clear benefits in reducing children's internalising behaviours, such as depression and anxiety disorders, and this is backed up by analysis of young people's self-reported mental health. However, effects on externalising behaviours, such as conduct disorders, aggression and violence, are much less clear-cut.

- Children who had access to Sure Start in their early years had lower internalising behaviours, such as depressive and anxiety disorders, in their teenage years. Young people who had greater access to Sure Start in their early years reported half as many internalising difficulties as their siblings with less access to Sure Start. Moreover, Sure Start also reduced hospitalisations for mental-health-related causes at ages 12–14, again by around 50% of their baseline.
- On the other hand, we find no significant impact of Sure Start on self-reported externalising behaviours in young people. We do find evidence that Sure Start decreased absences from school, with 15-year-olds who had early access to Sure Start missing 15% fewer school days for unauthorised reasons than their peers. But effects on crime were more ambiguous: children who had more access to Sure Start growing up were more likely to have a criminal record by age 16, driven by an 11% increase in cautions (a 6% reduction in more serious criminal convictions was not statistically significant).

Impacts of Sure Start were remarkably long lasting

Sure Start centres offered services for families with under-5s, but the positive effects of the programme stretched well beyond early childhood and at least into adolescence. Sure Start generated improvements during adolescence in educational attainment and behaviour in school, and reductions in hospitalisations and the number of children receiving support for special educational needs at the same ages. In the case of educational attainment and behaviour in school, the effects were larger than at some earlier points in childhood.

The age profile of impacts of Sure Start across outcomes points to at least four possible – and non-mutually-exclusive – channels through which Sure Start may have been effective.

- Capabilities developed in early childhood helped beget later capabilities. For example, at age 5, Sure Start improved the dimensions of school readiness communication & language and problem-solving dimensions that are most closely related to later English and maths competency. These early benefits may have made the acquisition of later skills easier, leading to the effects on test scores through primary and secondary school.
- Sure Start services, which partly focused on enriching children's home environments, may have generated sustained changes in the child's family environment. While this research does not generate direct evidence of impacts on the home environment, Sure Start significantly reduced the number of days of primary school missed for unauthorised absences, which tend to reflect parental decisions. It also reduced the number of hospitalisations for external causes, which include injuries and poisonings, likely reflecting improved safety in the home environment. Earlier evaluations of Sure Start found evidence of an improvement in family functioning.
- Sure Start may have helped detect issues early on and prevent them from becoming more difficult (and costly) to solve later on. For example, the reductions in hospitalisations that Sure Start led to in childhood were, in part, driven by a decrease in hospitalisations for 'preventable' hospitalisations, such as those where serious illness may have been prevented by early intervention.
- Sure Start may have changed families' relationship to services, making them more visible to service providers and/or more willing to seek support. While Sure Start reduced the proportion of children receiving support for special educational needs (SEN) at ages 7, 11 and 16, SEN support actually increased at age 5 for those who had early access to Sure Start.

Sure Start was not a 'silver bullet'

While we find evidence that Sure Start promoted several dimensions of children's capabilities, our results also suggest that light-touch universal early years services cannot on their own address all challenges that children and young people face. While integrated early years services can benefit children's lives in a long-lasting way, it is unrealistic to expect that early years services will ever completely replace the need for later, more specialised interventions. In particular, we find that early access to Sure Start had few impacts on the most intensive services.

- While access to Sure Start reduced the share of children with SEN Support plans in later primary and secondary school, we find no impacts on the support received for more serious needs via Education, Health and Care plans.
- Access to Sure Start had no significant effect on the number of children spending time as a Child Looked After (CLA) between ages 7 and 15. Children in care during late primary

school (ages 7–11) did spend around 11% less time being looked after if they had access to Sure Start during the first five years of life, but social care contact among secondary school pupils who had had access to Sure Start was often higher (though not statistically significantly so).

While there is some evidence that early access to Sure Start reduced school exclusions between 14 and 16, these results are not statistically significant. Similarly, Sure Start seems to have had a negative effect on convictions and custodial sentences by age 16, but we cannot rule out that there was in fact no real impact.

The benefits of Sure Start were widespread, but some groups were more strongly affected

The positive effects of Sure Start were spread relatively evenly across different groups, suggesting that the fact that Sure Start services were accessible to all families in the community was important for the outcomes generated. But we do find evidence in some cases that Sure Start reduced inequalities between groups.

- The health effects of Sure Start were more strongly concentrated among children from disadvantaged neighbourhoods. In the education system, Sure Start had benefits on test scores for all children from ages 7 to 16, regardless of eligibility for free school meals, but at age 7 these are significantly larger for children eligible for free school meals.
- Sure Start also increased youth cautions by more for young people who were eligible for free school meals.
- Both boys and girls benefited from Sure Start's effects on educational outcomes, and there
 were no differences by gender in the programme's effects on crime. However, Sure Start's
 effects on hospitalisations at older ages were driven by a large reduction in hospitalisations
 for boys, particularly for accidents and injuries.
- The educational benefits of Sure Start were much stronger for children from non-White ethnic backgrounds, except at GCSE (where impacts were driven by benefits for White young people). Similarly, effects on criminal behaviour were often larger for young people from non-White backgrounds, with both a bigger increase in cautions and a bigger decline in custodial sentences.

Long-run benefits are likely to significantly exceed the costs

By its peak in 2010, total spending on Sure Start was around £2.7 billion in 2023–24 prices, including both day-to-day spending and capital costs. However, the effects outlined in this report are associated with significant financial benefits, both for the government and for the children

and families who attended. These come from reduced costs to the government for services at later ages that are not needed, increased earnings for attendees, and increased tax revenue stemming from higher earnings.

Attaching a financial value to these benefits involves considerable uncertainty and quite a few assumptions. We need to make assumptions about where these benefits were felt, how long they lasted, and how they relate to later outcomes such as employment and earnings. We also need to project their financial value over a child's lifetime, and discount it back to the present day (for which we use the 'Green Book' recommended discount rate of 3.5%). The numbers in Table ES.1 should therefore be read as giving a sense of the scale of costs and benefits of Sure Start, rather than as a precise estimate of exactly how those numbers line up.

Table ES.1.	Costs	and	benefits	of	Sure	Start
-------------	-------	-----	----------	----	------	-------

Costs	Value
Up-front cost of Sure Start per cohort	£2.7bn
Benefits	Central estimate
Government: reduction in later spending for the government	£0.6bn
Government: increased tax income	£1.9bn
Total benefits to government	£2.4bn
Individuals: increased earnings and other private costs/benefits	£3.1bn
Total benefits	£5.5bn

Note: Values may not sum due to rounding.

- The effects on medium-term outcomes suggest it is likely that Sure Start generated a range of long-run benefits: the improvements in educational performance are associated with an increase in post-tax earnings of £3.1 billion per cohort over the life cycle (discounted from when the cohort might have attended Sure Start at 3.5%). At today's basic rate of income tax and rates of National Insurance contributions, this suggests that providing a cohort of children with access to Sure Start could generate an additional £1.9 billion of increased personal tax revenue over their lifetime. Sure Start also directly reduced some of government's costs through reduced service use (such as fewer hospitalisations and less support required for children with special educational needs), which generated £0.6 billion of savings for the government. Based on the central estimates presented here, these total lifetime benefits for government and for individual earnings are equivalent to twice the up-front cost of Sure Start.
- The net cost of Sure Start (i.e. the cost to the government in the long run, when taking into account subsequent savings from reduced service use and expected increases in tax revenue)

12 The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

was less than £300 million, or around 10% of the up-front cost. Comparing this net cost with our central estimate of £3.1 billion in private benefits for children and families implies that for every £1 of net spending, Sure Start may eventually generate around £11 in benefits for the children who attended. Importantly, this measure is highly sensitive to the estimated financial benefits to government (which are driven by our estimates of earnings impacts projected across a child's lifetime).

1. Introduction

In 1999, the government introduced the first large initiative in England to provide holistic integrated support to families with children in their early years. The ultimate aim of Sure Start was to enhance the development and life chances of children under the age of 5 by providing holistic support to their families. This was to be achieved by developing a network of 'one-stop shops', serving their local communities with a variety of services, including health services, early learning, parenting support and parental employment help.

At its peak in 2009–10, the programme had over 3,000 community-based early years service points across England and accounted for £2.7 billion of public spending across current and capital spending (in 2023–24 prices), or around 30% of overall spending on programmes for the under-5s (Britton, Farquharson and Sibieta, 2019). With the change in government in 2010, funding stopped being ring-fenced and significant spending reductions ensued, with spending 73% lower in 2021–22 than it was in 2009–10 (Fright and Davies, 2023) and at least 1,340 centres having been closed.

Despite the apparent recognition of the benefits of integrated services, relatively little was known about the programme's impacts at times when crucial decisions were made about the future of the programme. While the programme was expanding, two government-commissioned evaluations of it were conducted to document impacts on short-term child outcomes and family functioning. The National Evaluation of Sure Start (NESS), which focused on the first phase of the programme, Local Programmes, found no impact on children's cognitive skills but an improvement in parenting (less chaos, improved home learning environment) and children's health (National Evaluation of Sure Start team, 2010). The second evaluation, the Evaluation of Children's Centres in England (ECCE), was commissioned in 2010 and focused on Children's Centres, the second phase of the programme. It found that Children's Centre service use was correlated with improvements in the early home learning environment and reductions in parent–child dysfunctional interaction, chaotic environments and parental distress (Sammons et al., 2015).

Multifaceted early childhood programmes such as Sure Start have the potential to influence numerous dimensions of children's environments and their development, both immediately and as they grow older. And because of the preventative nature of many services, the true benefits of the programme may only start to emerge many years after children were eligible for it. Together, this means that a comprehensive evaluation of the effectiveness – and cost-effectiveness – of a

programme such as Sure Start must consider multiple outcomes, both in the short and longer term.

This report is the final output of a multi-year programme of work the Institute for Fiscal Studies led to this end. It brings together findings from successive strands of (already published) research and presents a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis of the programme. The methodological strength of this research lies in its ability to trace out Sure Start's impacts, from early childhood through adolescence, on a large array of outcomes, including educational attainment, hospitalisations, youth offending, special educational needs, school absences, and interactions with children's social care. As part of drawing together these different strands of research, we have updated our methodology in some cases; an overview of these changes, and the impact that they have on our results, is presented in Box 1.1.

Box 1.1. Changes relative to previous reports

This report covers outcomes covered by Cattan et al. (2021) on hospitalisations, Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024) on educational outcomes and Carneiro et al. (2024) on behaviour and social care interactions. As part of drawing together these different pieces of analysis, we have implemented some methodological updates since the publication of these reports. This means some estimates in this report are updated from prior reports.

The main methodological change was to the weighting method used to ensure comparability in trends in outcomes between areas that received Sure Start earlier and later. We now use a consistent measure of area-level deprivation, the ward-level Index of Multiple Deprivation from 2000. This is likely to be more reflective of the measures of deprivation used in the allocation of Sure Start centres. Reflecting recent developments in the econometrics literature on difference-in-differences, we have also moved away from weighting areas based on their pre-Sure-Start trends in a relevant outcome. This makes the interpretation of results simpler, as estimates now reflect the effect of Sure Start on children living near a Sure Start centre compared with those in similarly deprived areas not living near a centre, rather than depending on the prior trends in the outcome of interest.

This change means some results have changed relative to previous reports, with particularly large changes in the estimates of effects on criminal behaviour, behaviour in school, and specific effects for children from less deprived backgrounds and for children who attended later Sure Start Children's Centres. A full description of the changes to the methodology and results can be found in Section A.2 of the appendix.

Applying a common, robust evaluation methodology to a suite of administrative and survey datasets, we estimate the causal impact of Sure Start centres on the outcomes of children who 'had access' to a centre in their early years relative to those who did not. This approach is highly

policy-relevant for a programme such as Sure Start, whose services were open to all within a community. Our research speaks to the impacts on families and children of choosing to expand – or restrict – access to Sure Start, by opening (or closing) new centres, rather than to the effect of a family's choice to use those services.

Because we look at such a broad range of outcomes over such a long period of children's lives, we are able to paint a nuanced picture of how Sure Start affected children's development. We use theory and wider evidence to suggest how these impacts came about – which Sure Start services might have affected which outcomes, and which aspects of children's development and environments lie beneath the results that we find. But this is as far as our research can go on the question of mechanisms. Unfortunately, there is a lack of data on how Sure Start services were delivered and used, which limits our ability to firmly tie specific outcomes to specific services. A key lesson for future initiatives in this space, such as Family Hubs, is to build in evaluation from the outset and collect the data that will facilitate this work.

Finally, we bring together all of the outcomes that we study in an overarching cost–benefit analysis. But attaching financial benefits to a complex programme such as Sure Start involves considerable uncertainty and quite a few assumptions. The numbers reported here should therefore be read as giving a sense of the scale of costs and benefits of Sure Start, rather than as a precise estimate of exactly how those numbers line up.

The rest of the report proceeds as follows. Chapter 2 provides a summary of the history of Sure Start and the services it offered. Chapter 3 discusses the mechanisms by which we might expect Sure Start to affect medium-term outcomes. Chapter 4 describes the data and methods we use to identify the causal effect of Sure Start. Chapters 5–8 present our estimates of the effect on Sure Start on education, health, behavioural outcomes and interactions with children's social care respectively. Chapters 9 and 10 examine whether Sure Start was particularly effective for any specific groups, while Chapter 11 presents a cost–benefit analysis of Sure Start at its peak. Chapter 12 concludes this report.

2. History of Sure Start

2.1 The roll-out of Sure Start

Sure Start Local Programmes

Sure Start was introduced as a cornerstone of the New Labour government's plan to ameliorate the impact of child poverty and tackle social exclusion of children in deprived areas. Its initial main aim was to improve the health and well-being of young children living in the 20% most deprived areas of England. This was to be achieved by setting up community-based Sure Start Local Programmes (SSLPs) or 'one-stop shops' for local families with children under the age of 5. SSLPs were managed by a partnership of health, education, social services and voluntary sectors, and each Local Programme was responsible for working with the community to offer a range of services for young families (Melhuish et al., 2008).

When the programme was first announced, the government set aside three years of funding (1999–2000 to 2001–02) to set up 250 projects in areas with a very high concentration of children under 4 living in poverty. Each project was intended to run for seven to ten years, and, in total, the programme would reach up to 150,000 children (Pugh, 2010).

In January 1999, the newly formed Sure Start Unit (a joint responsibility of the education and health departments) identified 60 'trailblazer' districts that would be invited to submit project proposals. On 9 April 1999, the government announced the first 21 projects to go ahead, with a further 30 announced in July. By November of that year, 15 had opened their doors as Sure Start Local Programmes, across almost all regions of the country.

In 2000, the government announced that it would more than double the programme target, from 250 Local Programmes to 530. In total, the government opened 524 Local Programmes by 2004 (Meadows et al., 2011).

Sure Start Children's Centres

From 2003, the government shifted its approach to Sure Start, as outlined in two key documents published in 2003 and 2004 (Bouchal and Norris, 2014). The first, *Every Child Matters*, emphasised the need for joined-up services to improve children's outcomes and proposed a shift from targeted SSLPs to a universal programme controlled by local authorities and relabelled Children's Centres. The second, the *Ten-Year Childcare Strategy*, set out plans to make

Children's Centres part of the government's drive to increase the quality and availability of childcare for families with young children.





Note: The graph shows the number of centres open at the end of each calendar year. It includes both Sure Start Local Programmes and Sure Start Children's Centres. Since the treatment of arrangements such as satellite sites was not always consistent, these numbers might not exactly match other data sources. We assume that a Sure Start Children's Centre opening at the same postcode as a Sure Start Local Programme replaces the SSLP; otherwise, we count both SSLPs and SSCCs between 2003 and 2006, and assume all SSLPs had closed from 2007 onwards. Only current spending is included.

Source: Data on number of centres taken from authors' calculations using data provided by the Department for Education. Data on Sure Start budget taken from Stewart (2013).

The government's commitment to create 'a Children's Centre in every community' by 2010 led to a rapid increase in the number of Sure Start Children's Centres (SSCCs) from 2005 onwards, as shown in Figure 2.1. The roll-out of SSCCs was staged in three phases. Between 2004 and 2006, there would be approximately 800 Phase 1 centres, offering full coverage of the 20% most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. Of these, around 500 would grow out of existing SSLPs (and older initiatives, such as Early Excellence Centres and Neighbourhood Nurseries) while the rest would be new centres.¹ In Phase 2, between 2006 and 2008, 1,700 new centres would open in the 30% most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. Finally, Phase 3 of the roll-out would complete the universalisation of the programme, through the opening of another 1,000 centres in the remaining 70% of areas. In the least deprived 30% of areas, it was expected that most of these Children's Centres would open in refurbished or converted existing facilities as opposed to new buildings (Children, Schools and Families Committee, 2010).

¹ For the first phase of Children's Centres, new centres received up to £1 million of new capital expenditure.

Overall, by 2010 there were 3,290 Children's Centres in England, with 83% of 4-year-olds living within 2.5 kilometres (or 'pram-pushing distance') of a centre.

Figure 2.1 also presents the progression of total non-capital spending on Sure Start throughout the roll-out. This shows that the shift to SSCCs, and the subsequent rapid increase in the number of centres, was not accompanied by anywhere near as rapid an increase in the national budget for Sure Start. In 2003, the last year of Local Programmes, there were 437 centres, and current spending on Sure Start was £1.09 billion (in 2023–24 prices). Over the next seven years, the number of centres grew to be more than seven times larger, while the budget only doubled. This meant that by 2010, the last year of the expansion of Children's Centres, the average budget per centre was less than a third of what it had been seven years earlier, though with significant variation across centres as former SSLPs maintained much higher budgets than newer centres (National Audit Office, 2009).

2.2 Sure Start services

Sure Start centres integrated a range of early years and family support services, with the aim of providing a 'one-stop shop' for families with children under 5. The service offer did change somewhat over the course of the programme's roll-out, with a greater emphasis on a standardised 'Core Offer' and a stronger focus on childcare and parental employment in Children's Centres. But the emphasis on bringing together a wide range of services for children and their families was constant throughout the programme. Table 2.1 at the end of this chapter provides an overview of services offered by SSLPs and SSCCs.

Services in Sure Start Local Programmes²

Sure Start Local Programmes had substantial local discretion over the services they offered. All SSLPs were expected to provide core services in play, learning and childcare; support for parents; community healthcare; outreach and home visiting; and special needs support. SSLPs could also choose to provide additional services, such as classes to support parents' education and employment or services aimed at teen parents. Within each of these categories, SSLPs chose what services they would provide and how they would deliver this offer. Figure 2.2 summarises how SSLPs allocated their budget to these different service areas in the early 2000s.

Services for play, learning and childcare (which excluded funding for the free entitlement) made up the largest share of SSLP spending, and ranged from formal childcare provision to development funding for childminder networks to light-touch, drop-in services such as 'stay-

² This section draws heavily on the work of the National Evaluation of Sure Start, especially Tunstill et al. (2005) and Meadows et al. (2011).

and-play' sessions. Community healthcare services offered provision to supplement NHS services – for example, additional services for postnatal depression or breastfeeding support. Outreach and home visiting largely involved efforts to bring families into SSLPs, including leafleting campaigns, one-off open days or community events, and door-knocking campaigns.





Source: Figure 7 of Meadows et al. (2011).

The 'Core Offer' in Children's Centres

With the transition from Local Programmes to Sure Start Children's Centres, the services offered were formalised further in the Sure Start 'Core Offer' (Children, Schools and Families Committee, 2010). All Children's Centres had to provide:

- information and advice to parents;
- drop-in sessions and activities for parents, carers and children;
- outreach and family support services, including visits to all families within two months of birth;
- child and family health services, including access to specialist services for those who needed them;
- links with Jobcentre Plus for training and employment advice;
- support for local childminders and a childminding network.

In addition, Phase 1 and 2 Children's Centres – those in the 30% most deprived neighbourhoods – were required to offer early education and childcare for at least 10 hours a day, 5 days a week, 48 weeks of the year.

During the early 2010s, the Evaluation of Children's Centres in England surveyed families registered with Phase 1 and 2 Sure Start Children's Centres (typically located in the 30% most

deprived neighbourhoods and required to deliver the full Core Offer). Overall, Figure 2.3 shows that around 60% of registered families used at least one Sure Start service, rising to 75% of families with a 1-year-old. The most commonly used services were parenting support (43% of families), followed by health services (37% of families).



Figure 2.3. Take-up of Sure Start services in the early 2010s (Phase 1 and 2 centres)

Note: The graph shows the share of families in the ECCE sample that report making use of Sure Start, overall and for each of the four main types of services, by the age of the focus child. This is based on pooling all three waves of ECCE data. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Figure 1 of Cattan et al. (2025). Original data from Goff et al. (2013).

For all services except childcare, families with younger children were substantially more likely to use Sure Start than those whose children were slightly older. While only a small minority of families used Sure Start childcare services, this included 14% of families with a 3- or 4-year-old (who, at that time, were the only age groups eligible for funded childcare under the 'free entitlement' programme).

SSLP services	SSCC Core Offer	Examples
Play, learning and childcare	Access to (or provision of) childcare Support for local childminders Drop-in sessions for families	 On-site nursery Childminder network Childcare subsidies
Support for parents	Information and advice for parents	 Evidence-based parenting programmes Community support groups 'Stay-and-play' sessions
Community healthcare	Child and family health services	 Support for maternal mental health Additional midwife or health visitor capacity Baby weighing clinics Information about safe home environments Diet and nutrition support
Special needs support	Access to specialist services	Specific play groups for children with high needs
Employment support (optional)	Links to Jobcentre Plus	Further education classesVolunteering opportunitiesCV clinics
Outreach and home visiting	Outreach Visits to families within two months of child's birth	 Leafleting One-off events Door-knocking campaigns and home visits

Table 2.1. Overview of Sure Start services

3. Potential effects on children's development

In this report, we consider numerous child outcomes, ranging from universal measures (such as performance in national tests) to measures of engagement with specialist services such as children's social care or special educational needs (SEN) support services. We look broadly across education, health, crime and children's social care.

In most cases, these outcomes are not themselves measures of children's development. Rather, they capture the outcomes that are influenced by children's cognitive development, their social and emotional development, and their health. But these outcomes are also influenced by aspects of the child's or young person's environment: the environment at home, the peers that a young person has, and their families' willingness to engage with services. All of these factors, too, can be influenced by Sure Start.

In this chapter, we outline the different channels through which Sure Start might have influenced test scores, hospitalisations, absences, crime and the use of specialist services. We summarise the pathways through which Sure Start services may have affected the outcomes we consider in this evaluation in Figure 3.1.

3.1 Potential impacts on test scores

Sure Start brought together a range of services aimed at supporting children's early development. Most directly, early learning and childcare services gave children additional access to a stimulating environment, often with input into learning development from qualified teachers. Raising the take-up and quality of formal childcare in later childhood may have long-lasting benefits for children's cognitive development, especially for those from disadvantaged backgrounds.

Greater support for parents – especially in the form of evidence-based parenting programmes – may also lead to improvements in the home learning environment. For example, parents with more access to support might have had better mental health themselves, or better information about positive parenting strategies. This in turn can support children's cognitive and socio-emotional development.





Other Sure Start services might have also had indirect effects on children's test scores, including through improvements in health (thereby reducing absences), more appropriate support for children with special educational needs, or higher family income (and thus more access to learning support) as employment support helped parents move into paid work. We discuss these channels later in this chapter, when we look at the services that might have affected each of these

outcomes. (We explore Sure Start's impacts on maternal employment in Section A.4 of the appendix, which shows limited effects. We therefore focus more on other channels through which Sure Start could have influenced children's development in the rest of this chapter.)

Given the range of services that Sure Start offered, we would expect to see positive impacts (if any) on children's cognitive development and possibly on children's socio-emotional development in early childhood, which may translate into higher school readiness at age 5 or at least improvements in dimensions of school readiness most related to cognitive development.

These impacts may persist beyond early childhood, both because early skills help beget later skills and because changes in parental behaviours and/or attitudes persist over time. In turn, we would expect these to be reflected in greater academic achievement in primary and secondary school.

3.2 Potential impacts on hospitalisations

Our main measure of children's health outcomes is admissions to (NHS) hospitals. Of course, hospitalisations capture both children's health and how they (or their parents) choose to use healthcare. Sure Start could have improved children's health and so reduced hospitalisations. But Sure Start could also have increased detection of health problems and led to an increase in the share of children seeking medical care. It is therefore not possible to say at the outset what impact Sure Start might have on hospitalisations and whether an increase in hospitalisations is 'good' or 'bad' news.

To help disentangle these potential channels, in this report we will consider hospitalisations for specific causes: infectious illnesses; accidents and injuries; 'preventable' hospitalisations; and – in adolescence – hospitalisations related to mental health. We will also look briefly at self-reported general and mental health among adolescents, using survey data (as opposed to administrative data on hospitalisations).

Across all types of hospitalisations, Sure Start's impact on engagement with services is ambiguous. Greater access to community healthcare services could have provided lower-level care (either directly or through referrals to primary care) and kept children away from hospitals. On the other hand, early screening and detection might have made parents more aware of their child's need for healthcare, and more willing to seek out medical treatment.

Infectious illnesses

Greater access to Sure Start in the early years could have influenced hospitalisations for infectious illnesses in different ways. Community healthcare services, including better

information on safe home environments and on diet, could have reduced children's exposure to infections. On the other hand, most services at Sure Start took place in groups, with children and their parents meeting and interacting with many other families. This would have increased young children's exposure to germs and raised the risk of infection, at least in the short term.

However, earlier exposure to infection can also support the development of children's immune systems, making them more resilient when exposed to infections later on. We would therefore expect an early increase in infections to be followed by a later drop. This profile of short-term increases in infections followed by a decline has been seen in other contexts – for example, in Sweden (van den Berg and Siflinger, 2022) and Denmark (Daysal et al., 2024).

Accidents and injuries

Around three-quarters of hospitalisations for 'external' causes relate to injuries; most of the rest are due to poisonings. In the early years especially, a reduction in injuries and poisonings could reflect safer home environments as a result of better information about child-proofing homes.

In later childhood and adolescence, the child's own behaviour becomes a more important driver of injuries; the most common condition from age 9 onwards is a broken arm. A child with stronger social and emotional development might be less likely to engage in risky behaviours, including both accidents and fights. Indeed, several studies report a correlation between children's behavioural issues (e.g. hyperactivity and aggressive behaviour) and hospitalisations for injuries (e.g. Hoare and Beattie, 2003).

Finally, Sure Start might have reduced hospitalisations for accidents and injuries by reducing child maltreatment, through better support for parents and/or earlier screening into the children's social care system. Data on hospitalisations do not usually allow us to distinguish the cause of a particular injury, and so we cannot directly examine hospitalisations where maltreatment contributed.

Preventable conditions

Hospitalisations for 'preventable' conditions capture hospitalisations that could have been averted by better care (Blunt, 2013). They include vaccine-preventable conditions such as measles; chronic conditions, such as asthma, that would normally be managed in primary care; and acute but preventable conditions such as gangrene.

Better information and signposting from community healthcare services might have prevented some of these conditions, or helped parents to manage them at home or with a GP. A push for vaccinations would directly reduce the number of vaccine-preventable illnesses, while better information about managing chronic conditions such as asthma might help children and their families to avoid relying on the hospital for acute treatment. In some cases, a referral or screening from Sure Start might have increased families' use of healthcare services in the short term (e.g. if parents wanted to get a particular condition diagnosed or get initial advice on how to manage it at home).

Mental health

Finally, Sure Start could also have affected hospitalisations for mental health conditions. These are not typically diagnosed or recorded before the end of primary school, so in this report we focus just on mental health-related hospitalisations between ages 12 and 15 (as well as self-reported mental health among a smaller survey-based sample of young people).

The main channel through which Sure Start could have affected mental health is via improvements in social and emotional development. As outlined above, many of the services that Sure Start provided – including positive parenting programmes, support for a safer home environment, support for maternal mental health, and group-based play sessions – could have affected children's socio-emotional and behavioural development in the early years. These effects might well persist: there is clear evidence that 'skills beget skills' and so an early improvement in social and emotional development makes it easier for a child to continue to develop throughout their life (Cunha, Heckman and Schennach, 2010). Moreover, some of Sure Start's services – such as support for maternal mental health – could have a long-lasting impact on the child's home environment, feeding a 'virtuous cycle' supporting children's emotional and behavioural health.

3.3 Potential impacts on absences

As highlighted above, one way that Sure Start could have influenced test scores is by reducing absences from school. In this report, we consider impacts on both 'authorised' absences – where children have permission from the school to be off – and 'unauthorised' absences.

Authorised absences

Around 75% of authorised absences are due to illness; a further 7% are due to medical appointments. This means that reductions in authorised absences can be interpreted as an improvement in children's health. As we set out above, Sure Start could have reduced illnesses and infections during the school years (by exposing children earlier to illnesses during group-based sessions, and so strengthening their immune systems). We would therefore expect children with access to Sure Start to have fewer authorised absences, particularly in the earliest years of school (when their classmates who had not had access to Sure Start were 'catching up' in their exposure to illnesses and infections).

Unauthorised absences

Unsurprisingly, the reasons for unauthorised absences are less well recorded than those for authorised absence. For absences where a reason is recorded, the most common reason is an 'unauthorised holiday'. These can include term-time family holidays as well as children missing a day or two of school. Unauthorised lateness also counts towards these absences.

Particularly in the earlier years, unauthorised absences usually reflect a parent's decisions about whether to keep a child home. In this case, a more engaged home environment that places more emphasis on the importance of school might lead to fewer unauthorised absences.

Later, a child or young person might also choose to skip school themselves. Young people with stronger social and emotional development might be less tempted by skipping school. Better results at school might also reduce unauthorised absences, as children and young people feel more engaged in their education.

Peers also play an important role in unauthorised absences. Here, the potential effects of Sure Start are less clear. If young people are more sociable and have stronger peer networks (as a result of better social development), their peers might have more influence over their behaviour. On the other hand, since Sure Start was an area-based intervention, many of a young person's peers could also have benefited from access to Sure Start. This opens up the possibility of positive peer networks, where young people reinforce one another's positive decisions.

3.4 Potential impacts on crime and school exclusions

Criminal behaviour among young people is not uncommon in England. Around 10% of young people in our sample had some criminal record by age 16. The vast majority of these had had a 'caution', which is a formal warning by police that carries no sanction but remains on a young person's criminal record.

An improved parent–child relationship and more positive parenting could directly reduce youth offending. Similarly, improvements in children's development – both cognitive and socioemotional – could reduce the rate of youth offending. However, while many Sure Start services were targeted towards improving these types of development, there is some evidence that exposure to group childcare services, which Sure Start provided, can lead to worse behavioural outcomes (Baker, Gruber and Milligan, 2008; Fort, Ichino and Zanella, 2016), which could lead to increased youth offending. Much misbehaviour is driven by peer networks (Gaviria and Raphael, 2001; Carrell and Hoekstra, 2010), and so the effect of Sure Start on peer relationships might play an important role. Sure Start may have increased the influence of young people's peers (by strengthening friendship networks). This could increase youth offending, or might have a more limited impact if the young person's peers also benefited from stronger social and emotional development.

A similar set of potential mechanisms apply to school exclusions, where a child or young person is temporarily or permanently excluded from school. According to statistics from the Department for Education (2025), the most common reason for exclusion is persistent disruptive behaviour, followed by verbal abuse of adults and physical assault of other pupils.

3.5 Potential impacts on specialist services

Sure Start could also have influenced the use of specialist services. In this report, we consider two key specialist services for children and young people: support for special educational needs (SEN) and support through the children's social care system. In both cases, we are only able to observe outcomes once children have aged out of Sure Start and entered the school system.

Special educational needs

Access to Sure Start early in life could directly affect the take-up of services for special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).³ Both SSLPs and SSCCs were required to offer support for children with special educational needs. This included screening services, which would boost rates of detection and diagnosis – and might therefore increase rates of SEN support later on in the schooling years. It could also include early specialist support – for example, with speech and language difficulties. To the extent that these early support services helped to reduce the impact of these underlying special needs, they could reduce the need for SEN support later on.

Children's social care

Similar mechanisms are at play in the children's social care system. Increased contact with services early in life would bring opportunities for safeguarding issues to be noticed and flagged. This higher rate of detection could increase social care referrals in the earliest years, while children were attending Sure Start. (Indeed, Anderberg and Olympiou (2023) find evidence of an increase in local-authority-level social care prevalence among under-5s in local authorities with greater access to Sure Start Children's Centres.) If these children are then 'on the radar' for

³ SEN and SEND as abbreviations for special educational needs are used interchangeably throughout this report.

social care services, early detection may also lead to a persistent increase in interactions with children's social care.

On the other hand, many of Sure Start's services could have reduced the incidence or severity of safeguarding issues that children are exposed to. For example, evidence-based parenting programmes aim to teach positive parenting strategies, including for discipline and behaviour. This could reduce the incidence of abuse, neglect or maltreatment at home, and therefore reduce the need for children's social care.

4. Data and methodology

This report summarises a body of work on the causal impact of families having improved access to a Sure Start centre during the first five years of their child's life on their child's educational attainment, hospitalisations, special educational needs, behaviour in school and criminal justice settings, and interactions with children's social care. To do this, we use data on each of these outcomes, and different proxies for access to Sure Start. Different outcomes are measured at different ages, and derive from datasets covering different years, meaning that we do not capture the effect on the same cohorts for every outcome. A full list of the main outcomes considered and the cohorts for which we are able to estimate the effects can be found in Table 4.1.

4.1 Data

The analysis in this report uses data derived from three administrative data sources.

National Pupil Database and linked datasets

For the analysis of the effect of Sure Start on all outcomes besides hospitalisations, we use data from the school census dataset in the National Pupil Database (NPD). This includes data on children's home postcode in each school year for all pupils in state schools, starting from age 5. We use a child's address at age 5 as a proxy for their address from ages 0 to 4, when they might have had access to a Sure Start centre.⁴ The school census also includes a range of additional demographic characteristics, including gender, ethnicity and eligibility for free school meals, which we use to explore whether the impact of exposure to Sure Start differed for different groups. The school census can be directly linked to data on a range of additional outcomes.

Data on educational attainment are also included in the NPD. We use data from school readiness assessments based on the Foundation Stage Profile (FSP) at age 5, as well as data on Key Stage 1, 2 and 4 test scores at ages 7, 11 and 16 respectively. At FSP, we use scores from across all domains of development. At Key Stages 1 and 2, we use combined scores from reading and maths assessments. At Key Stage 4 (GCSE), we combine English, maths and science results. In each case, results are standardised within cohort.

⁴ This measure of where children lived before the age of 5 will be subject to some error, as some children will have moved between birth and when we measure them when they enter school. Data from the British Household Panel Study suggest that around 6% of families move local authority in the year after their child is born, falling to 4% a year during primary school. These moves are not related to Sure Start treatment (Cattan et al., 2025). Classical measurement error in the treatment variable would lead to attenuation bias, which would, if anything, underestimate the impacts.

Outcome group	Specific outcome	Cohorts covered	
Educational	FSP scores	1997–2007*	
attainment	Key Stage 1 scores	1990–2007	
	Key Stage 2 scores	1990–2007	
	Key Stage 4 scores	1990–2003	
Hospitalisations	All-cause hospitalisations by age	Age 1: 1996–2006 Ages 4–11: 1993–2006 Age 15: 1993–2002**	
	Cause-specific hospitalisations by age	Age 1: 1996–2006 Ages 4–11: 1993–2006 Age 15: 1993–2002**	
Criminal	Cautions up to age 16	1990–2001	
behaviour	Convictions up to age 16	1990–2001	
	Custodial sentences up to age 16	1990–2001	
	Cause-specific cautions up to age 16	1990–2001	
	Cause-specific convictions up to age 16	1990–2001	
	Convictions and cautions at each age 10–16	Ages 10–13: 1990–2004 Age 16: 1990–2001**	
Special	SEN Support and EHC plans, age 5	1997–2007*	
educational	SEN Support and EHC plans, age 7	1990–2007	
neeus	SEN Support and EHC plans, age 11	1990–2007	
	SEN Support and EHC plans, age 16	1990–2003	
Social care	Referrals, ages 7–11	2002–2009	
	Child in Need, ages 7–11	2002–2009	
	Child Looked After, ages 7–11	1999–2009	
	Referrals, ages 12–15	1997–2005	
	Child in Need, ages 12–15	1997–2005	
	Child Looked After, ages 12–15	1994–2005	
School behaviour	Absences, ages 6–15	Age 6: 2000–2007 Age 11: 1995–2007 Age 12: 1993–2007 Age 15: 1990–2004**	
	Exclusions, ages 10–16	Age 10: 1996–2007 Age 11: 1995–2007 Age 12: 1993–2007 Age 15: 1990–2004**	

Table	4.1.	Cohorts	studied	by	outcome

Notes to Table 4.1

* FSP scores and special educational needs data are for a reduced subsample for the 1997–99 birth cohorts.

** For ages not specified in the table, one earlier year's set of births are included for outcomes at one year older, and one later year's set of births are not included.

These data also include information on whether students were registered as receiving support for special educational needs at different ages, as well as the level of support they received (i.e. whether they had what is now known as an Education, Health and Care plan). FSP scores started being collected for a subsample of students in academic year 2001–02 and for all students from 2003–04, so for this outcome we are working with a sample of children born from 1997 onwards. For Key Stage 1, 2 and 4 outcomes, we work with a sample of children born from 1990 onwards. The last cohort included in our sample is the cohort of children born in 2007, except for Key Stage 4 results at GCSE level at age 16 for which we only have data for children born up until 2003 (see Table 4.1).

Data on school-related behaviour are taken from specific datasets within the NPD, which track information on individuals' absences from school and spells of suspension from school. For absences, this allows us to construct variables indicating what percentage of time in school children miss, both in total and broken down between unauthorised and authorised absences. For both suspensions and permanent exclusions, we combine data on each individual exclusion with information on the total school population from the NPD, taken at each age from 10 to 16, which gives us rates of exclusion and suspension from school.

For criminal behaviour, we use the linked National-Pupil-Database–Ministry-of-Justice data, with which we link the school census to the Police National Computer (PNC). The PNC database includes the criminal history of all children matched to the NPD, covering all recordable offences for which they received formal sanction between 2000 and 2017. We mostly focus specifically on crimes committed up to the age of 16, allowing us to focus solely on the outcomes of children born up to 2001, though at younger ages we can observe more cohorts.

The offences captured in the PNC database include both those for which the offender received a police caution and those for which they received a guilty verdict in a court appearance. For guilty verdicts in court, the PNC database also includes data on severity of sentence received. In order to get a sense of the most severe offences, we categorise sentences into custodial and non-custodial, where a sentence is custodial if it involves detention in a young offender or adult institution. The PNC database also includes data on the specific offence for which individuals were sentenced or cautioned. We group these into broader categories of offences. The most

common categories of offence we consider are theft, drug offences, weapons offences and violent crime.⁵

Finally, for children's social care, we use data linking the school census to the Children in Need (CIN) and the Children Looked After (CLA) censuses. This allows us to estimate the effect of Sure Start on the number of episodes children have with children's social care at different levels of severity, and the length of each interaction. The data also record primary need for each spell in care, allowing us to observe whether Sure Start affected different types of need differently. Because of restrictions in the years covered by each census, we observe social care outcomes for younger children and older children based on cohorts that mostly do not overlap, who were mostly exposed to different eras of Sure Start.

Hospitalisations data

We focus on children's hospitalisations using data from the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), an administrative dataset tracking all patients using public hospitals in England. Data on inpatient admissions provide information on the admission, discharge, clinical diagnoses and demographics of each patient. These were not linked to the NPD, so we use lower layer super output area (LSOA) at the time of admission as our proxy for where children lived before the age of 5.

Because HES data are not linked to the NPD, we do not have any information on the outcomes – or existence – of children who were *not* hospitalised. In order to calculate Sure Start's impacts on the probability of hospitalisation, we therefore collapse the data on admissions at each year of age into 'cells' defined by LSOA, gender and quarter of birth. Since close to 90% of these cells have zero admissions (and just 3% have multiple admissions), we define our main outcome of interest as an indicator for whether there is any hospitalisation at a particular age in the LSOA–gender–quarter-of-birth cell.

Data on Sure Start

We use data provided to us by the Department for Education on the exact location and opening date of all Sure Start Local Programmes (SSLPs) and Children's Centres. We have no information on when Local Programmes closed and hence need to infer it. For SSLPs that match with a Children's Centre, we assume that the Local Programme closed when the Children's Centre opened. For other SSLPs, we assume a closure date of December 2006.⁶ We use this in

⁵ Theft and drug offences are those crimes that fall in their respectively named Home Office offence groups. Weapons offences are those in the offence group titled 'Possession of weapons', and violent crimes are those in the offence group titled 'Violence against the person'.

⁶ According to the National Audit Office (2006), by September 2006 around 500 SSLPs (of the original 524) had transitioned into Children's Centres, so this is a fairly conservative cut-off.

conjunction with different proxies for where children lived before the age of 5 to generate different definitions of exposure to Sure Start.

4.2 Empirical approaches

Defining access to a Sure Start centre

Sure Start did not have strict catchment areas, but rather aimed to act as 'one-stop shops' within 'pram-pushing distance' for their local communities. This means that there are many different possible definitions of having access or being exposed to Sure Start.

All outcomes except hospitalisations

For non-hospitalisation outcomes, we consider all families living within a particular small neighbourhood (a lower layer super output area, LSOA)⁷ as being exposed to Sure Start in a particular year if there was a Sure Start centre within 2.5 kilometres (km) of all postcodes within that LSOA. We define a child/family as having access to Sure Start if, based on their home postcode at age 5 (from the NPD), they lived in an LSOA which had been within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre for at least five years (i.e. since the child was born).

The estimates we derive for these outcomes therefore refer to the average impact of exposure to Sure Start between ages 0 and 4 on the outcomes of all children living within 2.5km of a centre. This parameter is highly policy-relevant because Sure Start was an area-based programme open to all local children and families.

It is worth noting two things about this interpretation. First, not every child who lived near a Sure Start centre would have attended the centre. As a result, the impacts we report are an average of the impacts of the centres on children who used services and children who did not. Children who did not use the services may still have benefited through their interactions with children or families who used the services – though we would anticipate these impacts to be much smaller than any direct impacts from using the services. We do not have data that would allow us to disentangle direct from indirect effects – which is another reason why we focus on estimating the average impacts of Sure Start on the whole of their local communities.

Second, some children who lived more than 2.5km from a centre also attended Sure Start centres, though in much smaller proportions than those living within 2.5km (Goff et al., 2013). As a result, our main estimates should not be considered to represent the difference between living near a Sure Start centre and that centre not existing, but rather the difference between

⁷ There are around 34,000 LSOAs in England and the average LSOA has a population of around 1,500 residents.

living closer to or further away from a centre. This is the relevant parameter when considering the expansion of an existing programme (such as Sure Start or Family Hubs) in which new centres would increase accessibility for some children/families. In Chapter 11, we spell out what we can learn about the likely effect of actually attending a Sure Start centre from these results.

Hospitalisations

Our data on hospitalisations are not linked to the NPD, and we do not have information on home postcode at age 5. Instead, we observe the family's LSOA of residence at the time of admission, which could occur at any age between 0 and 15. Given that this is a coarser measure of location, there will be more measurement error if we try to use a precise indicator for the distance between home and the nearest Sure Start centre. We therefore use a different proxy for access to Sure Start, examining the coverage of Sure Start centres in a child's (lower-tier) local authority (LA) of residence. We define coverage as the number of Sure Start centres per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in the LA district. To arrive at a single treatment measure for each cohort, we average coverage over the first 60 months of life (or over the months leading up to the relevant birthday for outcomes measured earlier (e.g. months 0–11 for outcomes at age 1, months 0–23 for outcomes at age 2, etc.).

This means that our hospitalisation results will present the effect of an additional centre per 1,000 children under 5. This was roughly the average level of coverage by the programme's peak in 2010.

Estimating the causal effect of access to a Sure Start centre

The Sure Start programme was initially targeted at the most disadvantaged areas of the country, and then gradually rolled out to less and less disadvantaged areas. This means that we cannot simply compare the outcomes of children who had access to a centre with the outcomes of children who did not to estimate the causal impact of Sure Start exposure on children's outcomes. Doing so could confound the impact of Sure Start with the impact of other pre-existing differences in environments between children who were exposed (and tended to live in more deprived areas) and children who were not (and tended to live in less deprived areas).

To circumvent this challenge and only capture variation in children's outcomes that can be attributed to exposure to a Sure Start centre, we use an evaluation methodology called *difference-in-differences*. To understand the intuition behind this methodology, consider a cohort of children residing in an area where a Sure Start centre was located (a 'treatment area') who were born just before the centre first opened, and another cohort of children residing in the same location but who turned 5 before the centre was opened and therefore could not benefit from its
services.⁸ Using the difference across cohorts within areas before and after the opening of a centre ensures that our estimates are not contaminated by differences in outcomes across areas that would have occurred even in the absence of Sure Start, such as increases in educational spending across the country over the 2000s.

However, this approach could also pick up any trends in outcomes across cohorts that would have occurred even in the absence of a Sure Start centre opening. We estimate these common national trends from the same cohorts of children residing in areas where Sure Start centres never opened, or only opened much later so that no children in these cohorts were ever exposed to its services ('comparison areas'). We net off the difference in outcomes over time in comparison areas from the difference in outcomes over time in treatment areas. As long as the trend in outcomes in comparison areas provides a good proxy for what would have happened to outcomes in treatment areas in the absence of a Sure Start centre opening, this should enable us to estimate the causal impact of access to a Sure Start centre on children's outcomes.

We use this difference-in-differences strategy with both measures of access to Sure Start discussed above. In the case of non-hospitalisation outcomes, where we use living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre as the treatment measure, we add an additional adjustment: to maximise the comparability of our treatment and comparison areas, instead of treating all comparison areas similarly, we more heavily weight those areas without Sure Start centres that are of a similar level of deprivation to areas with centres, and vice versa. Section A.1 in the appendix presents the technical details of this methodology and discusses the success of this approach in ensuring we are comparing similar areas.

⁸ Throughout this report, we refer to a 'cohort' of children as a group of children all born in the same calendar year.

5. Effects on school outcomes

5.1 Educational attainment

Figure 5.1 reports estimates of the effect of access to Sure Start on academic results at ages 5, 7, 11 and 16. In each case, results are reported as a percentage of a standard deviation. This means that in each case, results are scaled according to the distribution of grades in that year. To put this into context, for those born in the first year a Sure Start centre opened in their location of residence, a 1 standard deviation increase in grades in English, maths and science at GCSE would correspond to an improvement of around 2 grades in each subject.





Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

The first bar in Figure 5.1 shows that children did not have significantly better aggregate developmental scores at age 5, around the time most children would have stopped being eligible to use Sure Start services. While the effect size is positive at 2.1% of a standard deviation, it is small and statistically insignificant (which means we cannot be confident that the true impact is different from zero).

Two years later, at age 7, students did significantly better in Key Stage 1 assessments because of their exposure to Sure Start – their results are 3.5% of a standard deviation higher than they would have been had they not been exposed to Sure Start. This is even clearer in the results at age 11, where we see an increase of 6.1% of a standard deviation in results in Key Stage 2 exams, the largest we see at any point, and roughly equivalent to the effect of an additional month of learning.⁹ The effect of Sure Start on school performance is not quite as large at age 16, but is still significant and positive. The improvement of 4.7% of a standard deviation across English, maths and science GCSEs is equal to an increase of 0.1 grades across each of the three subjects.¹⁰ We also estimate that access to Sure Start increased the probability of obtaining five A*–C grades at GCSE by 0.9 percentage points.

The lack of effect on aggregate age 5 scores may seem surprising given the relatively large and significant results at later ages. There are a number of possible explanations. First, the sample we have at our disposal to estimate impacts on FSP is smaller than the sample we have for later ages. This could make our results more imprecise. The second, more conceptual reason is that the aggregate FSP score is a composite score reflecting development across seven dimensions, including personal development, language and communication, mathematics and reasoning, knowledge and understanding of the world, physical development and creativity. It may be that Sure Start affected some dimensions more than others, resulting in an insignificant aggregate effect masking some dimensions with larger and smaller effects. We explore whether this is the case by estimating the effect of Sure Start on different domains of school readiness from Foundation Stage Profile tests at age 5.

Figure 5.2 shows the results of this estimation. We see a statistically significant effect on language and communication of over 4% of a standard deviation, and we observe an increase of 3% of a standard deviation for problem solving and reasoning, though it is not quite statistically significant. The effects on other developmental scores across personal development, physical development, and knowledge cannot be statistically distinguished from zero (though there is evidence of a significant increase in scores on the assessment of creativity). Sure Start seems to have affected the more 'academic' dimensions of the Foundation Stage Profile scores, which are more predictive of later Key Stage 1 and 2 scores which average achievement in maths and English.

⁹ Conversion of standard deviations to months of learning is taken from the Education Endowment Foundation Toolkit: <u>https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/education-evidence/using-the-toolkits</u>.

¹⁰ We focus on the effect of Sure Start specifically on English, maths and science at GCSE, so as not to capture changes in the number of students taken less common GCSE exams. However, we would expect improvements in performance in the three core GCSE subjects to translate to similar improvements in other subjects.



Figure 5.2. Effect of Sure Start on Foundation Stage Profile domains

Note: Results represent the difference in developmental scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

5.2 Special educational needs

As with academic attainment, we examine the effect of Sure Start on children's special educational needs (SEN) status at ages 5, 7, 11 and 16. We break down the overall effect into effects for those with SEN Support plans (with typically less severe needs) and for those with Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans (with typically more severe needs).¹¹

Figure 5.3 presents the causal impact of exposure to Sure Start on the probability of students being identified with special educational needs at each age, broken down into the two categories of SEN. This shows that at age 5, students were significantly more likely to have a SEN Support plan (the less severe category) if they were exposed to Sure Start than if they had not been exposed to it. One plausible explanation for this result is that the extra support Sure Start incorporated for those with special educational needs may have helped with detection of

¹¹ Education, Health and Care plans were introduced in 2014, replacing the SEN statement. For outcomes prior to 2014, we use effects on SEN statement and SEN without statement in place of EHC plans and SEN Support plans respectively.

additional needs, or simply made it easier for children identified to access support at an earlier age. In other words, it is possible that this is primarily due to an increase in diagnoses of SEN and offering services to children who need them, as opposed to an increase in the proportion of children who have special educational needs.





Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of children receiving support for special educational needs as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

From ages 7 to 16, the story is very different. Children who had access to Sure Start in their early years were 0.5 percentage points less likely to have a SEN Support plan in place at age 7 and age 11, and 0.7 percentage points less likely at age 16. Sure Start therefore reduced the proportion of children receiving support in the medium term, after increasing it in the short run, likely through increased identification of need. Importantly, these medium-term declines in SEN Support plans were concentrated among girls, while the short-run increase was strongest in boys. This means that it is unlikely that the reduction in the medium term was directly attributable to the early detection of additional need, but instead that the improvements in detection and the later reduction in need were two separate effects of Sure Start. Instead, the mechanism behind later effects may have been tailored support for children with high needs at Sure Start centres reducing their need for support in the medium term.

We do not see any evidence that these effects on less severe SEN Support plans extended to effects on more severe EHC plans. At each age, the effect of Sure Start on the proportion of

41 The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

children with EHC plans was not statistically significant.¹² This suggests that light-touch early years services, on their own, are not enough to prevent or reduce the impact of the more serious conditions that tend to warrant EHC plans.

¹² Some significant negative effects of Sure Start on EHC plans were reported in Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024), using an older methodology. Using the updated methodology, we no longer observe any significant effects. For a full description of the changes, see Section A.2 in the appendix.

6. Effects on hospitalisations and health

6.1 Any-cause hospitalisations

Figure 6.1 reports the estimates of the effect of increased access to Sure Start on the probability of any hospitalisation at each age in the neighbourhood–quarter-of-birth–gender 'cell'. To account for the fact that the probability of any hospitalisation is very different at different ages, we rescale the effects we estimate by the baseline probability of a neighbourhood having any hospital admission to obtain effect sizes that can be consistently interpreted across ages. These effect sizes therefore give the percentage change in hospitalisation probability, as compared with the baseline probability.





Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

The graph shows that, during the earliest years of life, when children were of an age to use Sure Start services, an increase in access to Sure Start led to an increase in hospital admissions. In particular, an increase of one Sure Start centre per 1,000 children in the local authority raised the probability of any hospitalisation at age 1 in a neighbourhood by 10% relative to pre-Sure-Start levels. That is equivalent to an additional 6,700 hospitalisations per year. Greater access to Sure Start continued to increase hospitalisation at ages 2 and 3, but these effects are smaller and no longer statistically significant.

As children continued to age, these early increases in hospitalisations were followed by substantial decreases in the probability of admission through childhood and early adolescence. Once children turned 5 and stopped being age-eligible to use Sure Start services, the overall impact on hospitalisations became consistently negative, with larger impacts during the first few years of schooling (ages 5–6) and then from age 10 onwards. Increasing Sure Start coverage in the local authority by one centre per 1,000 children at ages 0–4 would have averted around 7% of hospital admissions at age 5 (corresponding to around 2,860 averted hospitalisations a year, though the effects here are not statistically significant). Among 11- and 12-year-olds, an extra centre per 1,000 children averted close to 5,500 hospitalisations a year.

6.2 Cause-specific hospitalisations

As Chapter 3 highlighted, Sure Start could influence hospitalisations through a number of different channels. To disentangle these, we now turn to examining hospitalisations for specific causes (based on the primary condition diagnosed at time of hospitalisation).

Figure 6.2 presents the impact of Sure Start on hospitalisations for ambulatory care-sensitive (ACS) conditions. These include chronic conditions that can typically be managed outside of hospital (e.g. asthma), acute conditions where serious illness could have been prevented by early intervention (e.g. gangrene) and conditions that arise from vaccine-preventable diseases (e.g. measles).

The graph shows that access to Sure Start substantially increased hospitalisations for these conditions at younger ages, with a 20% increase over baseline levels at age 1. However, as children age, greater access to Sure Start instead reduced ACS admissions, with a 21% reduction over baseline levels by age 11. This could be consistent with greater information, advice and screening in the early years signposting children to healthcare services, which in turn help their families to better manage (or prevent) these conditions in the medium term.



Figure 6.2. Effect of Sure Start on probability of hospitalisation for preventable causes by age

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.



Figure 6.3. Effect of Sure Start on probability of hospitalisation for infectious diseases by age

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

Figure 6.3 shows the effect of increased access to Sure Start on hospitalisations related to infectious or parasitic illnesses. Greater access to Sure Start substantially increased hospitalisations for infectious illnesses in infancy; however, there are significant and substantial falls in hospitalisations (of up to 27% of the baseline) shortly after children 'age out' of Sure Start eligibility and start school.

This is consistent with exposure to pathogens through Sure Start activities such as childcare, stay and play, or other group-based activities: children who are more exposed early in life are initially more vulnerable to infectious illness, but then build up a stronger immune response which protects them compared with their less exposed peers when the entire cohort enters school. After a few years of schooling, however, these advantages seem to fade out as the immune systems of children with less exposure to Sure Start 'catch up' to their peers.

The specific causes of hospitalisations can also shed light on other mechanisms driving different effects of Sure Start. One example of this is the effect on hospitalisations for external causes. These hospitalisations, which include injuries and poisonings, can be loosely defined as hospitalisations not related to illness or disease. They are particularly relevant to our analysis, since there are a number of ways in which Sure Start could affect these outcomes. First, Sure Start provided parents with information on how to make their home safer for young children; this could have reduced both accidents (such as falling down ungated stairs) and poisonings (e.g. from cleaning products not stored safely). Second, Sure Start may have reduced the incidence of maltreatment, either by providing parents with early intervention and support, or by increasing detection rates and helping to remove children from unsafe homes.

Finally, to the extent that Sure Start improved children's cognitive and socio-emotional development, it could have had longer-lasting impacts on accidents and injuries. For example, a reduction in externalising behaviour could see children behaving in less aggressive or less hyperactive ways. This would plausibly lead to effects growing in the medium term, since older children generally have more freedom for potentially dangerous behaviour that could lead to accidents or injuries.

Figure 6.4 shows that Sure Start led to large declines in hospitalisations for external causes at almost all ages we consider. Unlike the infectious outcomes discussed above, these effects are always negative; even at the youngest ages, the probability of an externally caused hospitalisation fell by 10% or more with greater access to Sure Start. This significant reduction at young ages provides potential evidence for effectiveness through the information channels provided to parents, potentially generating improvements in the safety of the home environment. The continuation of these effects beyond age 5 suggests that these effects on parenting may persist beyond the ages at which families actually use Sure Start, with benefits into the medium term.



Figure 6.4. Effect of Sure Start on the probability of hospitalisation for external causes by age

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

Finally, we report the effect of exposure to Sure Start on children's mental health.¹³ There are significant limitations to our data: we only observe hospital admissions, so our measure of mental health is very extreme and does not capture young people who are receiving services in the community, through their schools or through non-hospital providers. Recorded mental health hospitalisations are very rare, and medical guidance typically suggests avoiding mental-health-related diagnoses among primary-school-aged children. We therefore focus on outcomes from age 12 onwards.

Figure 6.5 shows the impact of additional access to Sure Start on mental health admissions among adolescents aged 12–15. We find a statistically significant decrease in admissions related to mental health at ages 12–14. While hospitalisations are a fairly extreme outcome, in Box 6.1

¹³ In line with our focus on children's outcomes in this report, we focus on young people's mental health outcomes. Unfortunately, HES data are not well suited to estimating Sure Start's impact on maternal mental health, because the mother–baby linkage is only reliable from the mid 2000s. This means that we miss the birth of many of the earlier Sure Start cohorts, and we cannot be sure how many older siblings are in a household or when they were born.

we also present evidence that adolescents who had more exposure to Sure Start earlier in life enjoyed better mental health between ages 11 and 15.



Figure 6.5. Effect of Sure Start on the probability of hospitalisation for mental health causes by age

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

Box 6.1. Results on self-reported health in adolescents

Our main results on physical and mental health are drawn from administrative data on hospitalisations. These data have several advantages, including a large sample size and precise information about the hospital admissions of all children and young people in the sample. However, one downside of focusing on hospital admissions is that we cannot disentangle the impact of a genuine improvement in underlying health from the impact of a change in how people use healthcare.

To shed light on this question, in Cattan et al. (2025) we use an alternative data source: the UK Household Longitudinal Study (UKHLS). The UKHLS (and its predecessor, the British Household Panel Study) is a representative household survey that follows the same group of families each year. It asks young people aged 11–15 about their self-reported physical and mental health.

Because UKHLS is a survey dataset, we cannot implement the same empirical strategy that we use with the administrative hospitalisation records: the sample is not large enough to estimate over 34,000

LSOA fixed effects. Instead, we adopt a different empirical strategy, comparing siblings with more or less exposure to Sure Start. By controlling for family fixed effects, we hold constant many of the features of a young person's home environment that might influence both access to Sure Start and selfreported health in adolescence.

	V. good or excellent health	SDQ: total	SDQ: internalising	SDQ: externalising
Sure Start coverage	0.182** (0.085)	-3.474*** (1.259)	–2.502*** (0.722)	–0.960 (0.858)
Ν	8,047	8,192	8,197	8,195
N children	3,974	4,667	4,670	4,667
N families	1,761	2,066	2,067	2,066
Baseline mean	0.522	11.225	4.544	6.669
Baseline SD	0.501	5.443	3.031	3.659

Table 6.1. Effect of an increase	in Sure Start coverage	on young people's	self-reported
physical and mental health			

Note: Each specification includes family fixed effects as well as indicators for the year–quarter of birth, the quarter of interview, the age at interview, ethnicity, birth order and whether the household contains any other children aged 0–5, 6–10, 11–15, 16–19 or 20+. Standard errors (shown in parentheses) are clustered at the local authority level. *, ** and *** indicate significance at the 10%, 5% and 1% level, respectively.

Source: Table 4 of Cattan et al. (2025).

We evaluate the impacts of greater access to Sure Start on two different outcomes: overall health (measured by the young person self-reporting 'very good' or 'excellent' health) and mental health (as measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ), which assigns higher scores to those with worse social and emotional difficulties). We break down the SDQ results into 'internalising' difficulties (e.g. problems with peer relationships or emotional difficulties) and 'externalising' challenges (conduct problems and hyperactivity).

We find that young people who had greater access to Sure Start than their older siblings were 18 percentage points more likely to report being in 'very good' or 'excellent' health. They also reported substantially better mental health, as measured by fewer emotional and behavioural difficulties. In particular, early access to Sure Start seemed to reduce 'internalising' behaviours such as emotional difficulties. Compared with the baseline mean, young people with greater access to Sure Start scored around 55% lower on a scale of internalising difficulties than their siblings who had less exposure to Sure Start. Taken together, these results strongly suggest that Sure Start influenced not just the probability of seeking healthcare, but also underlying health (both physical and mental).

Of course, better mental health is a meaningful outcome in its own right. It could also be a channel through which Sure Start affected other long-term outcomes: improved mental health could lead to improved educational performance, reduced need for support with special educational needs, and reduced serious youth offending.

6.3 Authorised absences from school

Another measure of how Sure Start impacted the health of children and young people can be found in school absences. Authorised absences from school – those that are approved by the school as being for a valid reason – are overwhelmingly related to illness.

We therefore explore the impact that access to Sure Start had on authorised absences as a measure of children and young people's health. In Figure 6.6, we show that school absences among 6-year-olds who had been exposed to Sure Start were around 0.2 percentage points lower than for their peers – equivalent to around a third of a day less absence over the course of the academic year. These results became smaller over time, and were no longer statistically significant by the end of primary school.





Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of school days missed for authorised absences as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details. Age 16 is omitted due to the confounding effects of study leave for GCSEs in the summer term.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

50 The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

This is consistent with the results in Figure 6.3, which show that hospitalisations related to infectious illnesses fell sharply at ages 5–6 for children who had been exposed to Sure Start. Effects disappeared later on, as the immune systems of their peers 'caught up' after a couple of years in school.

7. Effects on behaviour

7.1 Youth offending

In this section, we focus on the effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour, which we study by estimating the effect of access to Sure Start on interactions with the youth justice system. Figure 7.1 reports the effect of exposure to Sure Start on criminal offending, broken down by severity of offence. Results are reported as a percentage of baseline levels of each outcome. Overall, the results show that Sure Start generated a statistically significant increase of around 8% in the number of young people with any criminal record by the age of 16. If this increase were replicated nationwide, it would be equivalent to an additional 4,900 young people with any criminal history by the age of 16.



Figure 7.1. Effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour up to age 16

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database–Ministry-of-Justice linked data.

This increase is driven entirely by an increase in the number of young people receiving a youth caution by age 16. The number of 16-year-olds who had received a caution by that age increased by 11% for those who lived near a Sure Start centre – equivalent at a nationwide level to an increase of 6,400 young people receiving a youth caution.¹⁴

These negative effects do not extend to more serious criminal behaviour, where we see statistically insignificant drops in interactions with the criminal justice system. Access to Sure Start in the early years led to a 6% drop in the number of young people with a conviction by age 16, and a 11% drop in the number of young people with a custodial sentence by age 16. The lack of significance can be attributed to a lack of statistical power due to the rarity of each outcome, as the effect sizes for both outcomes – and particularly custodial sentences – would represent a major improvement if they represented the true effect of Sure Start.¹⁵

Taken together, these results suggest that Sure Start may have reduced the average severity of criminal behaviour for young people, whilst also generating an increase in the frequency of low-level criminal behaviour.¹⁶

Figure 7.2 breaks down these results across the five most common categories of offence: theft, drug offences, weapons offences, violent crime and criminal damage, which collectively make up around half of all offences. The graph shows that the increase in cautions is spread across theft, violence and criminal damage. Cautions in these offence categories are typically given out for less severe offences, such as fighting or graffiti.

Meanwhile, we do see a statistically significant drop in convictions for theft, the most common cause of convictions. The 18% decline in the number of young people with a theft conviction by age 16 is equivalent to a nationwide reduction of around 1,900, a sizeable drop. It appears this may have marked a shift in severity, as there was a significant increase in the number of young people with cautions for theft, suggesting that those who would have committed more serious thefts shifted to less serious offences as a result of Sure Start.

¹⁴ Carneiro et al. (2024) showed a very small increase in cautions, but it was not statistically significant. Under the updated methodology, the estimates show a statistically significant increase in cautions. See Section A.2 in the appendix for more details.

¹⁵ Carneiro et al. (2024) showed slightly larger reductions in convictions and custodial sentences, such that the effects were statistically significant. See Section A.2 in the appendix for more details.

¹⁶ It is important to note that in the early 2010s, the period when the cohorts considered in this analysis were mostly aged 10–16, rates of youth cautions were falling dramatically across England – our results just suggest that the rate of decline in areas with access to a Sure Start centre was slower than in other areas. This finding holds even when restricting our sample to Sure Start centres in Police Force Areas that experienced similar rates of decline in youth cautions.



Figure 7.2. Effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour up to age 16 by offence type

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database-Ministry-of-Justice linked data.



Figure 7.3. Effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour by age

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type at the specified age as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals, and are removed for the effect of convictions at ages 10–12, where the effect is 0 but convictions are very rare. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database-Ministry-of-Justice linked data.

Figure 7.3 breaks down the effect on cautions and convictions by age, and shows that the increase in cautions is heavily concentrated among younger adolescents. From ages 10 to 12, Sure Start generated statistically significant increases in cautions of over 15%, while the increases in later years were smaller.

Taken together, Figures 7.2 and 7.3 suggest that the increase in cautions was driven predominantly by younger adolescents committing offences such as fighting and graffiti.

7.2 Unauthorised absences and school exclusions

Further estimates of the effect of Sure Start on behaviour derive from the effect of Sure Start on unauthorised absences from school and exclusions. Figure 7.4 shows the effect of Sure Start on unauthorised absences at ages 6–15. We see statistically significant falls in unauthorised absences at all ages. In primary school, this provides suggestive evidence of changed parenting practices, building on other evidence from the decline in hospitalisations for external causes, as children miss fewer days of school without their school's permission. In notable contrast to the effect on youth cautions, Sure Start prompted large reductions in unauthorised absences at ages 13–15 – equivalent to around 0.2 fewer unauthorised days missed per pupil per year – which suggest that the significant increases we see in misbehaviour in criminal justice settings did not extend to school settings in the same way.

To test effects on misbehaviour in school in another way, we consider the effects of Sure Start on school exclusions in adolescence. We consider both temporary exclusions (suspensions) and permanent exclusions, though approximately 98% of all exclusions are temporary, so the effects predominantly reflect changes in suspensions. Figure 7.5 shows that, as with unauthorised absences, there were particularly large falls in exclusions for teenagers.¹⁷ This again suggests that behaviour did not worsen in the way that misbehaviour leading to youth cautions did. However, the age patterns are similar in both outcomes: for unauthorised absences, exclusions and youth cautions, we see evidence of improvements in behaviour at ages 13–16 relative to ages 10–12 (though from different baselines), suggesting that they may reflect similar mechanisms, but with different elements of Sure Start generating different effects for each outcome.

¹⁷ Carneiro et al. (2024) reported significant increases in school exclusions at age 16. Using the updated methodology, we find that these estimates do not hold, and Sure Start prompted a decrease (though not a statistically significant one). See Section A.2 in the appendix for more details.



Figure 7.4. Effect of Sure Start on unauthorised school absences by age

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of school days missed for unauthorised absences as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details. Age 16 is omitted due to the confounding effects of study leave for GCSEs in the summer term.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure 7.5. Effect of Sure Start on school exclusions by age

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of students receiving a temporary or permanent exclusion from school as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

56 The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

These reductions in unauthorised absences and exclusions from school may also provide additional explanation for the improvements in academic attainment. More time in school, and less of that time spent causing disruption, may have led to improved educational performance and better test scores.

8. Effects on interactions with children's social care

This chapter focuses on the impacts of access to a Sure Start centre on school-age children's contacts with the social care system. Figure 8.1 shows the effect of access to Sure Start on the likelihood of different types of interactions at ages 7–11 with the social care system: probabilities of any referral to social services, any episode of being a Child in Need (CIN) and any period as a Child Looked After (CLA). These experiences range from one of the lighter-touch interactions within the social care system (a referral) to the most intensive (removal into care). We find no significant impact of Sure Start on the probability of these social care contacts (the extensive margin).





Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of or time spent in different types of interaction with social care services as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

The final two points in Figure 8.1 depict impacts of Sure Start on two proxies of the intensity of social care intervention: total time spent as a CIN and total time spent as a CLA between ages 7 and 11. While there is no impact on the time spent as a CIN, there is a sizeable, statistically significant reduction in the time spent in care between ages 7 and 11 of 11%. This suggests that

Sure Start may have had some effects on social care, but only by affecting the intensity of need, not the level of need. Therefore, while there is evidence from other outcomes that Sure Start may have affected parenting choices and the nature of the home environment, it does not appear to have generated major effects on more extreme negative outcomes associated with maltreatment or unsafe home environments, though it may have had some effect in the amount of care needed by those in care (the intensive margin).

Figure 8.2 provides further insights into changes in interactions with the social care system by breaking down the effect of Sure Start on different reasons for entering the social care system at the CIN level. There is evidence of a significant drop in the number of children in need due to family dysfunction, suggesting any effects of Sure Start on parenting may have fed through to reduced family dysfunction.



Figure 8.2. Effect of Sure Start on CIN by reason for need, ages 7–11

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of different types of interaction with social care services as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

Figures 8.3 and 8.4 show the same results for young people aged 12–15. Unlike at ages 7–11, there is no evidence to suggest Sure Start caused any reduction in interactions with social care on the extensive or intensive margin. In fact, at these ages – where different (earlier) cohorts are analysed due to data availability – there may even have been small increases in the number of children registered as Children in Need due to exposure to Sure Start. This suggests that any improvements to parenting or the home environment that Sure Start might have generated do not appear to have been strong enough to generate reductions in children's social care at ages 12–15.





Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of or time spent in different types of interaction with social care services as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure 8.4. Effect of Sure Start on CIN by reason for need, ages 12–15

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of different types of interaction with social care services as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

60 The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

Figure 8.4 shows the breakdown of the effect on the number of Children in Need by reason. It shows similar patterns to Figure 8.2, with reductions in the number in need due to family dysfunction, and increases in the number in need due to abuse or neglect, while changes for other reasons are null. While there may be small effects on the margins, this broadly suggests that Sure Start did not have major effects on interactions with children's social care in the way that it did for other outcomes, and thus that it may not have been a sufficiently intensive programme to generate changes to outcomes as severe as social care usage.

9. Effects of Sure Start by subgroup of the population

In this chapter, we report estimates of the effects of Sure Start for subgroups across three key dimensions of heterogeneity – deprivation, gender and ethnicity – to evaluate whether the effects of Sure Start were evenly spread across the population. We report these effects for several key outcomes to illustrate the relative effects across groups. These are educational attainment, hospitalisation, receipt of SEN Support plans and criminal behaviour.¹⁸

9.1 Effects by household income and deprivation

Sure Start was introduced with a specific aim of ameliorating the impact of poverty on children, and the initial roll-out of Sure Start Local Programmes was explicitly targeted to areas with higher levels of local deprivation and areas with high levels of low birthweight and teen pregnancy (Department for Education and Employment, 1999). Over the years we analyse, students from low-income backgrounds had lower academic attainment, higher rates of special educational needs and greater likelihood of having a criminal record by age 16. Therefore, it is important to consider whether Sure Start was as or even more effective for those from low-income backgrounds.

There are reasons to think that Sure Start may have been more effective for these children. Some Sure Start services were particularly relevant to low-income families, such as Jobcentre links, meaning that they could have made more use of the centres. It is also possible that there was more outreach in more deprived areas to encourage families to use services. On the other hand, despite the focus on these services, Sure Start was a universal programme and, by its peak, was available to the majority of the population, including many less deprived areas. It is important to understand whether the decision to expand these services to less deprived families and areas generated significant benefits.

A plausibly significant determinant of the effectiveness of Sure Start for a given child and family is the services and environment that they would have experienced otherwise. Currie (2009)

¹⁸ For SEN, we report only the effect on SEN Support plans, and not EHC plans. We do not report effects on the number of children with EHC plans by subgroup because we see no significant effects.

shows that disadvantaged children grow up in less safe and stimulating environments, while Bolt et al. (2021) show that much of the advantage that children from higher-income backgrounds get comes from higher parental investments of both time and money. On the one hand, we might expect Sure Start to partly substitute for deprived home environments for lower-income children, and thus be more effective. On the other hand, it may be that other elements of the home environment in a child's life might complement Sure Start services, generating larger effects for children who also receive other opportunities (such as if other support or services can help children reinforce things learned at a Sure Start centre).

To study these differences, we run the same analysis presented so far separately for those from low-income households and for the rest of the population. For most outcomes, the indicator of low income we use is eligibility for free school meals (FSM) at age 5, for which 17% of the population we consider qualify.¹⁹ Because our analysis of the effects of Sure Start is area-based, these results capture both the effect of using Sure Start and the effect of living near a Sure Start centre on using it. For example, larger effects for FSM-eligible children could be because they got more benefit than other children from using Sure Start or because they were more likely to use Sure Start but got the same benefit from doing so as other children.

Figure 9.1 shows academic results at each age, broken down by whether students are eligible for FSM or not. This shows that with the exception of age 5, where the confidence intervals are very large, the effect of Sure Start for students who were and were not eligible for FSM were similar. At ages 7 and 11, the effect of Sure Start was larger for children from low-income backgrounds, while at age 16 the effects were larger for students from less disadvantaged backgrounds. The difference in effects is only statistically significant for Key Stage 1 tests at age 7.²⁰

For hospitalisations, we do not have access to information on FSM eligibility, so we instead report the effect of Sure Start on the probability of hospitalisation by area deprivation rather than household income. We group areas into three categories based on their ranking on the 2004 Index of Multiple Deprivation: the poorest 30% of neighbourhoods (LSOAs); the richest 30%; and the middle 40%.

¹⁹ It is plausible that FSM eligibility may have been affected by Sure Start, given the Job Centre links which could have had an effect on household income, the determinant of FSM eligibility. However, Cattan et al. (2025) find no significant effects on parental labour market outcomes from Sure Start. We therefore use FSM eligibility as a good indicator of growing up in a low-income household.

²⁰ Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024) report only very small effects on educational outcomes at each age for children who were not eligible for free school meals. Using the updated methodology, results for children from less deprived backgrounds are similar to those for children who were eligible for FSM. See Section A.2 in the appendix for more details.



Figure 9.1. Effect of Sure Start on attainment by age and free school meals status

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure 9.2. Effect of Sure Start on the probability of hospitalisation by age and area deprivation

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

Figure 9.2 shows that at age 1, Sure Start only led to an increase in hospitalisations among the 70% most deprived areas of England. For most ages from 9 onwards, Sure Start reduced hospitalisations in the 30% most deprived areas. This suggests that there were larger effects for deprived families, though we do see a drop in hospitalisations for those from wealthier areas at age 5, suggesting that there were some benefits for children in wealthier families. Overall, these results suggest that health services at Sure Start centres may have been relatively more effective for children from more deprived backgrounds than services focused on school readiness were.

Figures 9.3 and 9.4 show two more key outcomes, the prevalence of SEN Support plans and criminal behaviour respectively, broken down by household income, again proxied by eligibility for free school meals. Sure Start's role in reducing the need for SEN Support plans in the years after Sure Start attendance does not seem to have varied significantly between more and less disadvantaged households. We only observe a statistically significant increase in SEN Support plans at younger ages for children from less disadvantaged households, but the confidence intervals of the effects on FSM-eligible children are very wide, so we cannot be confident that this reflects greater increases in detection due to Sure Start among children from less deprived backgrounds.





Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of children with SEN Support plans as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure 9.4. Effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour up to age 16 by free school meals status

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database–Ministry-of-Justice linked data.

For criminal behaviour, we also see similar effects across all outcomes. The increase in youth cautions is larger for FSM-eligible students, while we see no statistically significant effect on convictions or custodial sentences for either subgroup of students. This aligns with education and SEN results showing no clear pattern of differences in effectiveness across FSM and non-FSM students.

Overall, therefore, it appears that Sure Start had similar effects for families from more and less disadvantaged backgrounds, though there may have been some larger effects for health outcomes. This could be because Sure Start's services were provided in such a way that they had similar benefits for all users, or because of counterbalancing effects: for example, if Sure Start generated larger academic benefits to children from lower-income backgrounds, but the opening of a local centre was more likely to attract children from less disadvantaged backgrounds, these might generate similar overall effects.

9.2 Effects by gender

Figure 9.5 shows the effects of Sure Start on academic attainment for girls and for boys. The effect sizes are very similar, with no statistically significant differences in effect sizes at ages 5, 7 or 11. However, at age 16, we do see a significantly larger effect for boys. Larger effect sizes for boys would be consistent with the results of evaluations of other early childhood interventions, such as the Abecedarian programme (Conti, Heckman and Pinto, 2016) and Head Start (Carneiro and Ginja, 2014).



Figure 9.5. Effect of Sure Start on attainment by age and gender

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

Figure 9.6 shows a similar story for hospitalisations, with a similar profile for effects for girls and boys up to age 11, but divergent effects in adolescence. While there is no impact on girls in their teen years, the impact on boys grows steadily, and by age 15 an additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children during the first five years of life reduces the probability of a hospitalisation by 17%.



Figure 9.6. Effect of Sure Start on the probability of hospitalisation by age and gender

Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.

As with educational attainment, the similar trajectories of effects before adolescence suggest these effects are not driven by differences in take-up of Sure Start by gender. For hospitalisations, effects reported in Cattan et al. (2025) show that the gender difference in impacts is entirely driven by a greater impact of Sure Start on reducing hospitalisations for injuries. Injury-related hospitalisations are more likely to happen for boys than for girls throughout childhood, with differences increasing from the age of 11, causing divergent effects from this point onwards.

We see some evidence of gender differences in the effect of Sure Start on the percentage of students on SEN Support plans, as shown in Figure 9.7, though these differences are not statistically significant. Boys appear more likely to be in an SEN Support plan by age 5 as a result of Sure Start, but later in life the reductions in SEN appear to be concentrated more among girls.



Figure 9.7. Effect of Sure Start on SEN Support plans by age and gender

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of children with SEN Support plans as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

The disparity in the results for boys and girls suggests, though does not prove conclusively, that the positive overall effect of Sure Start on SEN at age 5 and the negative overall effect of Sure Start on SEN at later ages (seen in Figure 5.3) do not come from the same children: it appears that the positive effect at younger ages was driven by boys, while the negative effect at older ages was driven by girls. This makes it less likely that the story is one of earlier diagnosis leading to a reduction in need in the medium run for the same children.

Figure 9.8 concludes the section on gender differences by showing the differences in effects of Sure Start on youth offending rates. Historically, youth offending rates are much higher for boys than for girls: in our sample prior to the opening of a Sure Start centre, boys are twice as likely to have received a police caution, three times more likely to have received a conviction in court and nine times more likely to have received a custodial sentence by the age of 16. In that context, it is perhaps not surprising that the effect of Sure Start on the total number of convictions and custodial sentences is larger for boys than for girls, as it represents a reduction from a much higher baseline. In percentage terms, however, there are no statistically significant differences in the effect of Sure Start on cautions, convictions or custodial sentences, suggesting Sure Start had similar effects for both boys and girls.



Figure 9.8. Effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour up to age 16 by gender

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database-Ministry-of-Justice linked data.

9.3 Effects by ethnicity

Figure 9.9 breaks down the effect of Sure Start on academic outcomes by ethnicity. To ensure our results are precise, we produce estimates of the effects for White students and for students from all non-White backgrounds. These show that at most ages, the effect of Sure Start on grades is much larger for non-White students, though the confidence intervals are still relatively wide due to the smaller number of non-White students.²¹

Unlike the population as a whole, non-White students experienced a statistically significant improvement in school readiness across all domains as a result of Sure Start, with this improvement continuing on to Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 tests at ages 7 and 11 respectively. These larger effects do not appear to have persisted to GCSE results, where we see positive effects mostly driven by White students, but the overall picture appears to be one of larger effects for non-White students. It is worth noting that since non-White children are much more likely to live in urban areas, and we might expect how urban an area is to change the effects of

²¹ Because hospitalisation results are computed as an average across LSOAs, and we do not have sufficiently detailed data on the ethnic make-up of each birth cohort in each LSOA, we are unable to estimate effects on hospitalisations by ethnicity.

Sure Start, we cannot rule out some of these effects reflecting these urban effects rather than different effects on children of different ethnicities.





Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

Figure 9.10 shows results for SEN Support plans broken down along the same dimensions. We do not see statistically significant differences between White and non-White students at most ages, in large part due to a lack of precision, though there is some suggestion that the drop in SEN Support plans at age 16 may be much larger for non-White students.

For criminal behaviour, we see some evidence of larger effects for non-White children, as shown in Figure 9.11. Interestingly, this seems to apply both to larger increases in youth cautions and to larger reductions in serious offending. Non-White young people became 14% more likely to receive a youth caution by the age of 16 as a result of exposure to Sure Start, while White adolescents were not significantly affected. On the other hand, we see a significant drop in the number of non-White children receiving a custodial sentence by the age of 16 – the only subgroup for which we see such an effect. This effect is very large, but with very wide standard errors, due to the rarity of custodial convictions for young people and the smaller number of non-White children in the sample.



Figure 9.10. Effect of Sure Start on SEN Support plans by age and ethnicity

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of children with SEN Support plans as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure 9.11. Effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour up to age 16 by ethnicity

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database-Ministry-of-Justice linked data.
10. Effects of Sure Start by centre context

10.1 Effects by type of neighbourhood

In this section, we analyse the differential effects of Sure Start on urban and rural areas. This provides interesting evidence in its own right, analysing whether Sure Start centres were more effective in urban or rural areas. However, it also serves as a robustness check to ensure that the methods used in this report are sufficient to capture the true effect of Sure Start in two different ways.

First, it is important to understand whether the definition of access to Sure Start as living within 2.5 kilometres of a centre is robust to whether the centre is in an urban or rural area. We might expect families in rural areas to travel further than 2.5km to use a centre, while we might think it would be unlikely that a family living in a very urban area would use a centre 2–2.5km away. Therefore, we use significant effects in both urban and rural areas as evidence that this definition of access to Sure Start is relevant in both types of area (though it is plausible that it is a better measure in one setting than the other, which would make the relative strength of the effects across each type of area harder to compare).

Second, estimates of the effects specifically in urban and rural areas help to show that the results in this report are not driven solely by differential changes across urban and rural areas that happen to be correlated with the opening of Sure Start centres. This might be the case if more Sure Start centres opened in urban areas that happened to improve in certain outcomes around the same time (e.g. if Sure Start centre openings were heavily correlated with the improvement in educational outcomes in London across the 2000s and 2010s). Because we compare treated urban areas with other urban areas as controls, and treated rural areas with other rural areas as controls, significant effects can show that the effects we find in this report are not driven by any decisions to put more Sure Start centres in urban or rural areas.

Figure 10.1 shows the effects on test scores at each age. They broadly show slightly larger effects in urban areas, with a statistically significant difference at age 7. This could reflect differences in the importance of living within 2.5km for use of a centre, larger effects for non-White children, or some other difference between children in urban and rural areas. At ages 11 and 16, we see significant positive effects in both types of area, and at similar levels to the overall effects shown in Figure 5.1. This suggests that the measure of access to Sure Start is

relevant in both urban and rural areas and that the effects are not driven by differential changes in outcomes between urban and rural areas that geographical measures of access to Sure Start capture by chance.



Figure 10.1. Effect of Sure Start on attainment by age in urban and rural areas

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

We see a similar pattern in Figure 10.2, showing the effect of Sure Start on hospitalisations for both urban and rural areas, with no statistically significant differences in effect sizes at any age, as effect sizes in both types of area track the overall effect, again suggesting that results are not driven by effects in either urban or rural areas.

Figure 10.3 shows the effect of Sure Start on SEN Support plans along the same dimensions. Again we see effects in both urban and rural areas, though we do see some evidence of some effects being limited to one type of area: by age 16, the decrease in the proportion of students with SEN Support plans appears to be limited to children living in urban areas.





Note: Results represent the effect of having one additional Sure Start centre per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a local authority on the probability of hospitalisation in a neighbourhood in that local authority. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Hospital Episode Statistics.



Figure 10.3. Effect of Sure Start on SEN Support plans by age in urban and rural areas

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of children with SEN Support plans as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

Finally, Figure 10.4 shows the effect of Sure Start on criminal behaviour for both urban and rural areas. This provides interesting insights into the positive effect of Sure Start on youth cautions, as we see a statistically significant drop in cautions in rural areas and an increase in urban areas. Given that the effects on other types of criminal behaviour and most other outcomes are relatively similar across the two types of area, this suggests that the increase in cautions may be driven by mechanisms unique to urban areas, while in rural areas the improvements in behaviour that can be seen in reductions in unauthorised school absences and school exclusions may have played a bigger role.





Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of having any criminal offences of the specified type as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National-Pupil-Database–Ministry-of-Justice linked data.

10.2 Effects by type of centre

There are many reasons to believe that the two types of centres – Sure Start Local Programmes (SSLPs) and Sure Start Children's Centres (SSCCs) – would have different effects on different outcomes. SSLPs had much larger budgets per centre than SSCCs, so we might expect any given SSLP to be more effective than any specific SSCC. This money tended to be spent on extra parental outreach and teacher input into learning development, so if these services were particularly effective we may expect SSLPs to be more effective.

SSLPs also gave local communities a lot more freedom to decide what services they offered, compared with the Core Offer that SSCCs were obliged to provide. While most of the services in the Core Offer were common in SSLPs, the exact structure of the offering was based on a consultation with parents and an assessment of local need. It may be that local tailoring provided additional benefits which boosted the effectiveness of SSLPs, or that the focus of SSCCs on the Core Offer made that relatively more effective.

In order to estimate the differential effects of SSLPs and SSCCs, we consider separately the effect of living near a Sure Start centre that opened up to 2003 and after 2003, when Sure Start Children's Centres were introduced. This means that we will be including Children's Centres that were initially Local Programmes as SSLPs. This is still beneficial, as records from the National Audit Office (2006 and 2009) and from Stewart (2013) show that former SSLPs that converted to SSCCs acted quite differently from newer SSCCs, meaning that we are also estimating the effect of this difference in behaviour between the two types of SSCCs.

Figure 10.5 gives the effect of different types of Sure Start centre on academic outcomes at ages 5, 7 and 11.²² Broadly, the effects of the two programmes seem to be similar, and to match the effects of Sure Start overall.²³ The possible exception to this is at age 7, where we see about double the improvement in performance for children who grew up near an SSLP compared with those who grew up near an SSCC. However, this difference does not last until age 11, where SSLPs and SSCCs are similarly effective. This could be because the additional budget and offering of SSLPs did not significantly increase effectiveness, or because their effect was counteracted by things making SSCCs more effective, such as focus on the Core Offer or increased choice of centres due to the rapid expansion of the programme.

Figure 10.6 shows the effects on each type of programme on levels of SEN Support plans at the same ages. As with academic attainment, there is once again no clear pattern in the relative effects of the two programmes. Both appear to generate similar increases in additional SEN Support plans as children stop using Sure Start, before causing a reduction in the percentage of children with plans at ages 7 and 11. SSCCs generated larger reductions at age 7 and SSLPs generated larger reductions at age 11, but the pattern from younger to older ages is similar across both types of centre. This again suggests that both types of centre were effective.

²² Age 16 is omitted as we only have data on GCSE results up to the 2003 birth cohort, so every cohort we observe who lived near a Sure Start centre for their whole childhood would have lived near an SSLP that opened in 2003 or earlier.

²³ Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024) report only very small effects on educational outcomes at each age for children who lived near an SSCC. Using the updated methodology, results for children who lived near SSCCs are similar to those for children who lived near SSLPs. See Section A.2 in the appendix for more details.



Figure 10.5. Effect of Sure Start on attainment by age and type of centre

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in test scores as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.



Figure 10.6. Effect of Sure Start on SEN Support plans by age and type of centre

Note: At each age, results represent the difference in the percentage of children with SEN Support plans as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. The set of cohorts used is different for each age group; see Table 4.1 for details.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

We are unable to separate out the relative effects of SSLPs and SSCCs for criminal behaviour, as these estimates derive exclusively from children who lived near SSLPs. We are also unable to draw a distinction in effects for hospitalisation outcomes, due to the different measure of exposure used in this case. For children's social care interactions, we are able to see effects of both types of centre for secondary-school-aged children, while for primary-school-aged children only the effects of SSCCs are observable.

Figure 10.7 shows the effect of Sure Start on social care interactions between the ages of 12 and 15 for both types of centre. Broadly, the lack of effect from Sure Start extends to both types of centre, with no statistically significant differences in effect size between the two programmes. Across all outcomes considered in this report, there is therefore limited reason to think that one category of Sure Start centre was significantly more effective than the other – though it is not clear whether this is because the differences between them did not play a role in their effectiveness or because they counterbalanced each other.



Figure 10.7. Effect of Sure Start on social care interactions by type of centre, ages 12–15

Note: Results represent the effect on the probability of or time spent in different types of interaction with social care services as a result of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre, relative to living further away. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

11. Cost–benefit analysis

In this chapter, we draw together the evidence on Sure Start's impacts on education, health, absences, special educational needs, youth offending and children's social care. We construct a measure of the financial impacts of all these effects (taking into account the relationships between different outcomes) and compare these benefits with the costs of Sure Start.

We start by rescaling our estimates (which are based on the effect of having access to Sure Start) to estimate the impact Sure Start had on the children who actually used its services. Then, we look at the financial value both to the public purse and to the families and children themselves from the impacts Sure Start had, before comparing the value of these benefits with the costs of the programme.

We focus on the effects of Sure Start across the whole life cycle of the children who attended Sure Start centres. This means that our estimates include both the direct effects of Sure Start that we observe in this report and indirect effects that we expect to develop over time, including those that are spread across the child's whole life, such as lifetime earnings. For all outcomes, we use a discounted value from when the child ages out of Sure Start eligibility.²⁴

This is a big exercise, and necessarily imprecise. Attaching financial values to the different impacts Sure Start had relies on assumptions about where those benefits were felt, how long they lasted, and how they relate to later outcomes such as employment and earnings. In Section 11.5, we also discuss the limitations of and uncertainties around this cost–benefit analysis.

11.1 Who was affected by Sure Start?

The results in this report focus on the effects of living near a Sure Start centre, rather than actually using a centre. This is an 'intention to treat' effect of the Sure Start programme on individual outcomes. For the effects on hospitalisations, this comes from measures of the density of centres in the local area a child lives in when they are hospitalised. For other estimates, it is marked instead by whether a child grew up within 2.5 kilometres of a Sure Start centre. While the use of this marker provides a relatively precise measure of exposure to a Sure Start centre, it

²⁴ All costs are discounted following the HM Treasury approach specified in the 'Green Book', discounting all future changes to private benefits and government costs at an annual rate of 3.5%. We discount from the point at which the child is aged 5, so just after all expenditure has finished.

requires an estimate of the effect on Sure Start users and the total number of Sure Start users to be scaled up to the overall effect of Sure Start.²⁵

In order to do this, we need an estimate of how much living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre increases the likelihood that a family uses Sure Start. The best available data come from surveys in 2012 carried out as part of the Evaluation of Children's Centres in England (ECCE).²⁶ Using these survey data, we estimate that living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre made children between 30 and 39 percentage points more likely to use Sure Start services than their peers who lived more than 2.5km from a centre.²⁷

We next assume that it is this difference in the likelihood of attending a Sure Start centre that drives the impacts we find of living nearer to Sure Start. That is, we assume that the potential impact of using Sure Start would be similar for children living within 2.5km and those living further away; the differences in outcomes from living closer arise just because these children are more likely to actually use Sure Start services. Based on this assumption, we can say that the results we find are driven by the 30–39% of the population who only attend Sure Start because they live near a centre. Adjusting for this means effects on Sure Start users that are 2.6–3.3 times larger than the effects of living within 2.5km of a centre.²⁸

We also use the ECCE reports to estimate the total usership of Sure Start centres. Using data from ECCE on the number of children registered at an average centre, as well as the proportion of children who had actually used a centre in the last year, we estimate that 55-72% of children aged 0 to 4 – or between 1.7 million and 2.3 million children – were using a Sure Start centre by its peak in 2010.

For the cost–benefit analysis, we combine our central estimate of the effect on users for different outcomes (2.9 times the effect of living near a Sure Start centre) and our central estimate of the proportion of the population who used a centre (64%) with data on the short- and long-run costs and monetary benefits of these outcomes to get the overall costs and benefits of the policy.

²⁷ Full details of this estimation process can be found in Section A.3 of the appendix.

²⁸ For hospitalisation outcomes, where the definition of Sure Start treatment is the number of centres per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in a child's local authority, we do not translate results into effect per user. This is because the results can be translated directly into an estimate of the overall effect by multiplying the effect of an additional centre per 1,000 under-5s by the total number of centres per 1,000 under-5s.

²⁵ This is because some children who lived near a centre would not have used it, and some children who did not live near a centre would have used it anyway, making the effect of living near a centre an underestimate of the effect of actually using a centre. Instead, it is necessary to multiply effects on the users of centres by an estimate of the total number of users.

 $[\]label{eq:https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/evaluation-of-childrens-centres-in-england-ecce.$

11.2 Effects of Sure Start on the exchequer

Sure Start represented a significant up-front cost to the government. By 2010, England spent over £2 billion (in 2023–24 prices) on the running costs of Sure Start Children's Centres, in addition to another £0.5 billion of capital spending as new centres were opened. This amounted to total spending of £2.7 billion, which represented around 30% of total spending on the early years (Belfield, Farquharson and Sibieta, 2018). Based on our estimates of usership, this translated to spending around £1,350 per Sure Start user per year by the peak of the programme in 2010.

However, Sure Start's effects on government spending were not limited to the up-front costs, as many of the outcomes discussed in this report drive government spending or revenues.²⁹ In this section, we estimate how the effects of Sure Start are likely to have translated into savings for the exchequer in the long run. A list of the types of spending and revenue considered can be found in Table 11.1 later. All savings are reflective of estimates for the effect on one cohort of children in 2010, compared with the cost of providing Sure Start services to that cohort across all five years of eligibility at the peak of the programme.³⁰

Health

For the costs of the health outcomes of Sure Start, we focus on both the short- and long-run costs to the government from increased hospitalisations. The most direct of these costs is the cost of the hospitalisations we observe in the data themselves. We use cause-specific cost data across injuries, poisoning, respiratory conditions, infections and mental health. In total, the direct savings from reduced hospitalisations at ages 1-15 are less than £10 million per year. Despite hospitalisations being relatively expensive, and the effects being large relative to the baseline, the baseline frequency of hospitalisations is rare enough that the monetary effects are not that large.³¹

There are larger effects from some of the improvements in health that underlie the reductions in hospitalisations. For example, we found that greater access to Sure Start significantly reduced head injuries (Cattan et al., 2025). These injuries, particularly traumatic brain injuries, can generate significant long-run costs, through both medical expenses and spending on disability

²⁹ For all outcomes, we use only results that are statistically significant. In the case of hospitalisations, where results are broken down by year, we use only outcomes for which effects are statistically significant at any age.

³⁰ Because spending on Sure Start increased and fell before and after its peak respectively, we use the cost of the programme in 2010 (£2.7 billion) as a rough estimate of what it would have cost to provide services with the same funding for all five years of eligibility to any one of the cohorts who were eligible at the time. We therefore use this as the up-front cost of Sure Start for one cohort that we compare with savings for an individual cohort.

³¹ It is likely that the reduction in hospitalisations as a result of exposure to Sure Start mirrors a reduction in the use of other healthcare services, such as GPs. This would likely represent a further reduction in costs, but we are not able to estimate this using the administrative data we have.

benefits. Therefore, we estimate that by reducing the frequency of head injuries, Sure Start is likely to generate a £50 million reduction in lifetime medical spending on those who would otherwise have suffered a traumatic brain injury and a £200 million reduction in lifetime welfare spending on the same individuals (both discounted). In total, these savings from fewer hospitalisations, improvements in health and reductions in severe conditions such as traumatic brain injuries represent just under 10% of the up-front cost of Sure Start.

Special educational needs

Access to Sure Start drove a significant reduction in the number of children with SEN Support plans over the course of their time in school. Data on the costs of this support are taken from the notional SEN budget for mainstream schools. This budget assumes that the average cost for supporting a child with SEN is £3,000. Incorporating the effects of Sure Start throughout childhood, this implies total averted costs of £200 million a year by 2010. We do not consider any savings that may have come from changes to the number of students with Education, Health and Care plans, as we do not observe any statistically significant effects as a result of Sure Start.

Children's social care

For the effect of Sure Start on spending on children's social care, we focus on the effect of Sure Start on the total amount of time that individuals spend either as Children in Need or as Children Looked After. We do not find statistically significant effects from Sure Start on the total amount of time spent as a Child in Need, but we do see a significant drop in the amount of time spent as Children Looked After from age 7 to 11. Time spent as a Child Looked After is very expensive: an additional month spent in care for a single child cost around £4,700 (in 2023–24 prices) in the middle of the 2010s. The reductions in time spent in care as a result of Sure Start are therefore enough to generate savings of £110 million.

Youth justice

Youth crime imposes significant financial costs on the justice system, through policing, the courts and offender management programmes. We consider the costs to the court system of each conviction for a young offender, taking account of specific costs for different categories of offence. We also consider the policing costs that come with each caution or conviction, the costs of youth custody, and the offender management costs that are roughly proportionate to the number of young people with any criminal history.

Because we do not see significant effects of Sure Start on most categories of criminal behaviour, we only use two costs in Table 11.1. These are the cost of processing theft convictions in the courts (as these drop significantly as a result of Sure Start) and the cost of offender management programmes (as the total number of young people with any criminal history increased, given a rise in youth cautions). These savings and additional costs are both relatively small, in the order

of about £10 million, and they roughly balance out – so we conclude that Sure Start had almost no impact on justice spending.

We do not attempt to estimate the long-run effects of Sure Start on the cost of crime, though evaluations of other similar early years interventions such as Head Start in the US have found significant long-run effects and savings through this channel (Anders et al., 2023). Unfortunately, there is a lack of good evidence in the UK on how a change in criminal behaviour during adolescence shapes later crime. We also note that the increase in cautions that we found was concentrated in younger ages, with much smaller effects by age 16 (the latest age we can study). Given this pattern of fade-out and the very small net financial impact we find during adolescence, we would not expect including the long-term costs of crime to significantly change the picture presented here.

Changes to taxes on income

Aside from the up-front costs of the programme, the most consequential effects of Sure Start to the exchequer are those that come from increased tax revenue. The long-run effects of Sure Start on earnings – the details of the estimates of which can be found in the next section – should also lead to an increase in revenue for the exchequer, due to the increased income tax and (employee and employer) National Insurance contributions paid on increased earnings.

Our rough estimate of the proportion of these increased incomes that would go towards the government is 43%, based on the marginal tax rate of an individual paying the basic rate of income tax and earning between the primary threshold and the upper earnings limit for National Insurance contributions.³² Combining this with estimates of the long-run earnings returns to Sure Start access implies an estimate of a £1.9 billion increase in discounted tax revenue across the attending cohort's lives as a result of Sure Start.

Of course, the precise number is subject to considerable uncertainty: to arrive at it, we need to model how outcomes in adolescence will translate into earnings over the life cycle. And it will matter to the public purse whether there is a small impact on the earnings of a large number of people, or a large impact on few people (and whether those people would otherwise have been high or low earners). So this estimate of the increase in tax revenues gives a sense of the potential scale, rather than a precise forecast for Sure Start's impacts on the public purse.

³² Some individuals affected by Sure Start will earn less than this, and so will face lower marginal tax rates. However, they would also likely face a tapering of universal credit, and so increased earnings for them would lead to savings for the government through a different route.

11.3 Benefits to individuals from Sure Start

In addition to averted exchequer costs and increased revenues from Sure Start, several of the outcomes considered in this report are associated with significant private benefits to individuals. These wider benefits will not directly affect the public purse, but they are still valuable and important to capture in a full cost–benefit analysis.

Long-run earnings

The largest individual benefits from Sure Start stem from the expected effect on long-run earnings. To estimate this, we use the effect of the programme on GCSE grades to obtain an estimate of the long-run benefits of the improved educational attainment generated by Sure Start. Hodge, Little and Weldon (2021) estimate that a one standard deviation improvement in GCSE performance translates to a £117,190 increase in discounted lifetime earnings (in 2023–24 prices). Applying these estimates to our findings of an improvement of 4.7% of a standard deviation as a result of exposure to Sure Start gives an estimated increase in lifetime discounted earnings from age 5 of £13,000 from using Sure Start. Of that, a significant proportion goes towards taxes, leading to an increase in lifetime post-tax earnings for the average Sure Start user of about £7,800. Across all users, this adds up to a total increase in discounted post-tax earnings of £3.1 billion, larger than the up-front cost of Sure Start in itself. Again, it is important to stress that this is an estimate based on Sure Start's impacts on educational qualifications at age 16: using these results to project the impacts on long-run earnings is, by necessity, subject to considerable uncertainty. To avoid double-counting different effects, we do not consider the effect of other outcomes we look at on long-run earnings, since they may overlap with (or contribute to) the effects on earnings that arise via higher educational attainment. For example, while Sure Start reduced absences, it is unlikely that this reduction in absences impacted lifetime earnings over and above the improvement in test scores that we capture directly.

However, this means that we may be missing any effects on earnings that arise through channels other than improved GCSE performance in school. For example, if the effects on outcomes such as criminal behaviour and social care interactions in this report lead to changes in long-run earnings, they would likely not be fully reflected in changes to GCSE results. Of course, these effects could go in either direction, given the presence of both positive and negative effects in these areas.

Health

In addition to averting costs for the NHS and the wider public purse, Sure Start's impacts on health also generated savings for the children and families who used the centres. Some of this comes from savings for families: since the hospitalisation of a child often leads to lost earnings,

there are benefits to family earnings from reducing hospitalisations (though, in practice, the total scale of these earnings benefits is very small).

Other benefits apply to the children, from likely reductions in traumatic brain injuries and child maltreatment reflected in reduced hospitalisations for injuries and external causes. We include the savings to individuals from avoiding traumatic brain injuries, in the form of reduced care costs (savings covered by disability benefits are already reflected in the savings to the exchequer described above). Similarly, we include the benefits of avoiding very rare but costly cases of fatal maltreatment. In combination, the financial benefits to individuals flowing from Sure Start's impacts on health add up to approximately £20 million by its peak.

Criminal behaviour

In addition to generating costs for the state, most criminal behaviour also generates costs for the victims of crime. We therefore include the effects of changes to criminal behaviour on victims in the effects on private individuals. For this, we consider the effects of both cautions and convictions, taking into account the different categories of crime where we find that Sure Start had a significant effect. We assume that the increase in youth cautions that resulted from greater access to Sure Start perfectly reflects an increase in underlying crime (rather than changes in detection or reporting). We estimate that the victims of crime lost around £40 million in damages per cohort due to the increased prevalence of minor violent offences, thefts and criminal damage incidents.

11.4 Comparing costs and benefits

Table 11.1 provides a summary of all the benefits and costs of Sure Start considered in this report. They are separated into the up-front cost to the government of running and expanding the Sure Start offering; changes in spending and revenue for the state as a result of the effects of the policy; and benefits and costs for private individuals.

There are two ways of comparing the benefits and costs of the policy. The first is to compare the sum of all benefits, across both private individuals and the government, with the up-front cost of the policy. By this metric, for every £1 the government spent on Sure Start centres, there were societal benefits of £2.05. This represents a large benefit for the cost, and at a significant scale: the programme generated £2.8 billion more in benefits than its up-front cost.

The second way to compare the benefits and costs of the policy is to draw a distinction between benefits to private individuals and to the government. By our estimates, the total net cost of Sure Start to the government, once all long-run savings are taken into account, was around £270 million: 90% of the up-front costs will eventually be recouped in long-run savings. This means that Sure Start's benefits to the public purse (eventually) offset much of the initial investment, but that Sure Start did not entirely 'pay for itself' from the government's perspective.

Still, if the net public outlay on Sure Start was less than £300 million, then our central estimate of the private benefits of around £3.1 billion was more than 11 times as large as the programme's long-run net cost. This represents a very strong return to the investment, and aligns with similarly large returns to integrated early years programmes such as Head Start in the US (Hendren and Sprung-Keyser, 2020). Importantly, this approach to calculating the 'marginal value of public funds' is highly sensitive to the estimated long-run savings to government: if the actual impact on earnings and taxes were 10% lower than we estimate here, for example, this marginal value of public funds measure would fall to a ratio of $\pounds 6.09$ return for every £1 of net spending.

Table 11.1. Costs and benefits of Sure Start

Un formt anota	Value
Up-front costs	value
Up-front cost of Sure Start per cohort	£2,690m
Savings to the government	Value
Increased long-run tax revenues	£1,860m
Reduced short-run hospitalisations	£10m
Reduced long-run hospitalisations	£50m
Reduced spending to support people with traumatic brain injury	£200m
Reduced spending on SEN Support plans	£200m
Reduced spending on Children Looked After	£110m
Changes to spending on policing and courts	~£0
Total savings to the government	£2,420m
Benefits	Value
Increased long-run post-tax earnings	£3,110m
Reduced long-run costs of traumatic brain injury	£10m
Reduced risk of fatal maltreatment	£10m
Savings to parents from reduced time in hospital	~£0
Increased victimhood from youth crime	–£40m
Total benefits	£3,090m

Note: Negative values for benefits reflect monetary losses. Values may not sum due to rounding. Estimates for lifetime benefits are central projections based on best-available estimates in the literature, but are subject to considerable uncertainty.

11.5 Potential limitations

The cost–benefit analysis in this chapter pulls together evidence on a range of outcomes measured over a long period. As with any cost–benefit analysis, it necessarily relies on many assumptions about how long the benefits will last, which benefits overlap and could be double-counted, how early benefits in terms of education and health relate to later earnings, and how individuals and the public purse value these different benefits. All of this means that the estimates presented here give a good sense of how the scale of benefits compares with the scale of the programme's costs – but the precise numbers themselves are estimates with considerable uncertainty attached.

There are several ways in which the cost–benefit analysis outlined in this chapter might overestimate or underestimate the monetary benefits or costs associated with Sure Start. The first is through outcomes that are not included in this analysis. These include outcomes past the age of 16 in criminal offending, hospitalisations and social care, as well as effects on children's social care at ages younger than 7. Healthcare costs from primary care are also omitted, as are effects on earnings that cannot be explained by improved educational attainment. While we might expect Sure Start to have generated more benefits than costs through these channels – leading to an underestimate – the role of increased service use means in some areas this analysis could also generate an overestimate.

The most significant omission from this analysis is the offering of the services themselves.

Most Sure Start services were offered free of charge or at a reduced price. For parents who would have paid for these services, this represents an in-kind transfer that is valuable to the families. But since it is uncommon for integrated services such as those offered at Sure Start centres to be offered privately, it is difficult to estimate families' willingness to pay for the services that they received for free.

In some cases, families likely have very little willingness to pay. Many Sure Start centres had a significant focus on outreach and persuading families to take up the services offered at Sure Start centres; these families are unlikely to have had a high willingness to pay out of pocket for these services.

It is more likely that families would have been willing to pay for other elements of the Sure Start offering such as play sessions or easier access to children's healthcare, and so the offering of these services for free should be thought of as an additional benefit. However, it is not possible to disentangle families' demand for these services from the long-run benefits that they bring to children, and so we are not able to provide a numeric estimate for the value they place on these services beyond the benefits to children and families discussed in Section 11.3.

Outcomes discussed in this report also bring significant non-monetary benefits for which families might be willing to pay, but which are not possible to quantify. For example, improved health is likely to bring benefits to individuals beyond those that are captured in the financial costs for individuals and the government of supporting those with health problems. A similar story may also apply to changes in educational attainment, criminal behaviour and interactions with children's social care. This chapter excludes any of these non-pecuniary benefits from these outcomes from the analysis.

There are also limitations to the method by which effects of access to Sure Start are scaled into overall effects. It assumes that all attendees of a centre get the same benefit – if users who lived further away got a smaller benefit from the programme (e.g. because they used the services less intensively or they had different characteristics), then this method would overestimate the effect on nearby users. Additionally, data on location and usership are taken from only a sample of centres, rather than capturing the relationship between distance and Sure Start usage across the whole population.

Finally, these results are limited by the fact that the data in ECCE are taken from a survey in 2011 and 2012. As a result, we focus on the effect of Sure Start at its peak (and the last year we study) in 2010, when service usage is likely to have most closely matched usership rates in the ECCE report. However, as our estimates reflect the effects on cohorts born earlier than this, we adopt the underlying assumption that the effects were constant across years. This is supported by the fact that earlier and later centres were similarly effective. If, however, centres had become more or less effective by 2010, then our cost–benefit analysis would represent an underestimate or overestimate respectively of the true returns to the policy at its peak. Furthermore, the ratio of costs to benefits in earlier years should not necessarily be assumed to be the same: earlier centres spent more per child living nearby, which might mean they had lower benefit–cost ratios.

12. Summary and policy implications

In England, Sure Start pioneered the concept of an early years programme that provided a comprehensive range of services under one roof, incorporating health services, parenting support and childcare in the same centre.

As one of the country's largest early years policies, evaluating the impacts that Sure Start had on children is important in its own right. Bringing together a wide range of outcomes – capturing different dimensions of children's development and more and less serious outcomes – gives us a unique opportunity to learn about how integrated early years services affected children and young people in the round. And, because the roll-out of Sure Start began more than 25 years ago, an evaluation today also lets us explore the long-term effects that Sure Start had.

While Sure Start itself is much less a feature of the early years landscape than it once was, the lessons it holds for designing and implementing early years services remain just as relevant today as they once were. The new Family Hubs and Start for Life programme, which seeks to bring together a range of family support services, and similar initiatives in the rest of the UK – including Flying Start in Wales and the continued Sure Start programme in Northern Ireland – and internationally can also draw on the lessons learned from this evaluation.

12.1 Summary of results

Table 12.1 provides a summary of the signs and statistical significance of the impacts of Sure Start on the range of outcomes this research has considered.

Outcome group	Outcome	Effect direction	Statistically significant?
Academic attainment	FSP score	↑	No
	Key Stage 1 score	↑ (Yes
	Key Stage 2 score	↑ (Yes
	Key Stage 4 score	↑	Yes
SEN Support plans	Age 5	↑ (Yes
	Ages 7, 11 and 16	Ļ	Yes
Education, Health and Care plans	Age 5	\downarrow	No
	Ages 7, 11 and 16	↓ and ↑	No
All-cause hospitalisations	Ages 1–3	↑ (At some ages
	Ages 4–15	Ļ	At some ages
Youth offending	Total offences	↑	Yes
	Cautions	↑ (Yes
	Convictions	Ļ	No
	Custodial sentences	Ļ	No
School-related behaviour	Authorised absences	Ļ	At some ages
	Unauthorised absences	Ļ	At some ages
	Exclusions	↓ and ↑	No
Interactions with social care	Child in Need, ages 7–11	↑	No
	Child Looked After, ages 7–11	Ļ	No
	Child in Need, ages 12–15	↑	No
	Child Looked After, ages 12–15	↓	No

Table 12.1. Summary of key outcomes

Wide-ranging benefits - but no silver bullet

Overall, our results confirm that Sure Start promoted several dimensions of children's capabilities. Early access to Sure Start improved test scores; reduced hospitalisations in childhood and adolescence; reduced school absences and exclusions; and reduced the share of children receiving less intensive support for special educational needs. This portfolio of results strongly suggests that early access to Sure Start shaped children's cognitive, physical and social development as well as their environments and use of services at home and school.

But our results also suggest that light-touch, universal early years services are not a 'silver bullet', particularly for avoiding the need for intensive, specialist services. We find no effects on Education, Health and Care plans. While interactions with the children's social care system tended to fall during primary school among children with access to Sure Start, contact amongst secondary school pupils was often higher (though these results were generally not statistically significant). We also find that children with early access to Sure Start were more likely to receive a caution (though less likely to have a conviction or custodial sentence) by age 16. While integrated early years services can benefit children's lives in a long-lasting way, it is unrealistic to expect that early years services will ever completely replace the need for later, more specialised interventions.

Long-lasting benefits

Remarkably, across almost all the outcomes we consider, the effects of Sure Start are visible from early childhood all the way through primary school and adolescence. While this result is in line with what we could expect from an early childhood programme that puts strong emphasis on promoting child development, this finding is still remarkable given the large number of early childhood programmes whose effects fade out quickly after the programme ends.

The evidence we gather in this report suggests that several channels may be responsible for the persistence in impacts. First, Sure Start directly shaped children's development in the early years. There is solid evidence that, under the right conditions, better skills early in life make it easier to keep and acquire skills later on. For example, a child who received help with speech and language difficulties at Sure Start might have started Reception better able to communicate, as reflected in higher scores in communication and language at age 5. But that child would also find it easier to engage in class and make the most of the learning opportunities there. This could kick off a long-lasting 'virtuous cycle'.

Complementing the direct effects on children, Sure Start services also sought to improve children's home environments. A key focus of Sure Start was on providing additional support for parents, whether through stay-and-play sessions or more structured evidence-based parenting programmes. Some of our results suggest that Sure Start did affect children's home environments. For example, a reduction in hospitalisations for accidents and injuries suggests that children were safer at home, while a reduction in unauthorised absences even in the early years suggests that parents may have made school attendance a higher priority.

Changing the relationship to services

Finally, Sure Start may have reshaped families' relationship to services, ranging from accessing universal services such as healthcare to accessing specialist services for special educational needs or social care. Children who visited Sure Start centres were more 'visible' to service

providers, meaning that there were more opportunities for early problems to be picked up and for families to be referred to – and supported to access – appropriate services. The impact this has on the outcomes that we measure is complex, and depends on whether early access to services increases service use in the long term (because families are more familiar with, and more known to, the system) or whether it decreases service use later in life (because early intervention prevents or reduces later issues). Our results on preventable hospitalisations, for example, suggest that families were more likely to access hospital services early in their child's life, but that hospitalisations fell later on.

Sure Start reduced inequalities – in some outcomes

Sure Start services were designed to be available to all families in their local area, though the centres themselves were rolled out earlier and more intensively in disadvantaged areas.

There is a large evidence base suggesting that early years programmes are more effective for children from disadvantaged backgrounds. We find some evidence of this for Sure Start: impacts on hospitalisations, for example, are concentrated among children living in the poorest 30% of neighbourhoods. But in other cases, such as test scores, we find much smaller differences in Sure Start's impacts between children who are and are not eligible for free school meals.

Sure Start's impacts were often stronger for boys than for girls, particularly during adolescence. Virtually all of the decline in hospitalisations among teenagers was driven by Sure Start's impacts on boys. Similarly, Sure Start's benefits for GCSE results were almost twice as large for boys as they were for girls. We also find evidence that Sure Start had stronger effects on children from non-White backgrounds.

A cost-effective intervention

At its peak, Sure Start cost around £2.7 billion (in 2023–24 prices) per year. We find that the value to the public purse of the benefits that Sure Start created is around £2.4 billion – meaning that Sure Start directly defrayed a large portion of its cost, but did not (quite) 'pay for itself'. However, the government was not the only beneficiary of Sure Start; the children and families using the centres also benefited directly, in the form of lower costs and higher lifetime earnings. These wider social benefits were worth around £3.1 billion per cohort, or around 11 times the long-run net cost of the programme (subtracting long-run savings to government from the up-front costs of the programme).

12.2 Lessons for policy

The main lesson that this evaluation holds for policymakers is that integrated early years services can have substantial, wide-ranging, long-lasting and financially valuable benefits for

children's lives. Bringing together a range of services in the early years was successful in reshaping children's health, education, and social and emotional development. This is a prize worth having.

Our results also suggest that this was achieved precisely by **bringing together** and **joining up** services across a range of different areas. There is no one obvious candidate for a 'magic bullet' service; instead, Sure Start worked because it took seriously the academic evidence on the relationships between all the different dimensions of children's development.

But this does not mean that any combination of services would be equally effective. Frustratingly, this evaluation can only shed indirect light on the role that different services played. While Sure Start staff on the ground put considerable effort into collecting data on who attended centres and which services they used, these data were often not valued by local or national government. In many cases, the data were not systematically collated even at the local authority level. In the places where data were collected, they have mostly been permanently deleted. This represents a real loss to evaluation and means that our understanding of how Sure Start worked is poorer than it could have been.

Our results do still suggest that Sure Start was effective for a wide range of children – but effects were somewhat stronger for those in disadvantaged neighbourhoods, for boys, and for children from ethnic minority backgrounds. This suggests that there may be some opportunity to prioritise services to some areas or types of children. At the same time, Sure Start generated significant financial benefits – for families and for the government – even in its universal, areabased model. There may well be benefits – to service take-up, to detection and prevention, to service quality, and to wider social capital – from continuing to use integrated early years services as a universal-within-area service that brings in families from many different backgrounds.

Looking forward

Since 2021, successive governments have signalled their interest in and commitment to integrated early years services through the Start for Life programme (focusing on conception to age 2) and a new network of Family Hubs (which serve children and young people up to age 19, and their families). Family Hubs have many similarities to Sure Start centres: they draw together services in education, public health, and parental work and benefits advice; they are an area-based service available to all families in their catchment area; and they maintain a key role for local authorities.

On the other hand, Family Hubs target a much wider age range than Sure Start centres did. This could offer benefits from continuing support even at older ages. But it also risks diluting the offer of support, especially since Family Hubs are much more lightly funded than Sure Start

94 The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

was. Family Hubs also place much more priority on virtual services and signposting rather than on in-person community hubs.

This evaluation of Sure Start suggests that integrated early years services can be an effective – and cost-effective – way to genuinely improve children's outcomes in a range of areas, with long-lasting benefits. For a government that is committed to boosting school readiness, Sure Start provides encouraging evidence that a focus on family services could be a good place to start.

Appendix

A.1 Difference-in-differences specification for non-hospitalisation outcomes

The difference-in-differences method estimates the effect of a Sure Start centre opening (in our case, the treatment) by calculating the difference between the change in outcomes over time in areas where Sure Start centres opened within 2.5km and the change in outcomes over time in areas where no centres opened. This relies on the assumption that there is no other reason why the outcomes in areas with Sure Start centres might have changed in a different way from those in other areas.

The most common reason why this might not be true is if the pre-treatment trends in areas with and without centre openings are not parallel. For example, if Key Stage 2 results were improving quickly in areas where Sure Start centres opened even before the centres opened, but were not changing in areas where Sure Start centres did not open, then our difference-in-differences method would pick up that difference as part of the effect of Sure Start. This could plausibly be happening, as Sure Start's roll-out was specifically targeted to areas with higher deprivation, higher teen pregnancy rates and higher levels of low birthweight. Areas with these features might have been changing differently from other areas, perhaps because they were catching up with areas with better outcomes.

To account for this, we reweight our sample based on the level of deprivation of an area. We weight more highly areas that received Sure Start centres early with similar deprivation levels to most areas that received centres late, as well as giving extra weight to areas that did not get a centre early but had similar levels of deprivation to areas that did. We do this using the Index of Multiple Deprivation at electoral-ward level from 2000, to align with the original aim of Sure Start covering the 20% most deprived electoral wards. We implement this using the staggered difference-in-differences method proposed in Callaway and Sant'anna (2021).

Figure A.1 shows that once we weight based on deprivation, there are parallel pre-treatment trends between treated and untreated LSOAs. The graph shows the difference between those with and without Sure Start centres in the difference in trends between the year labelled -1 and each year. The fact that there is no major trend in the values before year 0 (when the Sure Start centre opened) indicates that Key Stage 2 outcomes for those too old for Sure Start were not changing in different ways in the two types of area.



Figure A.1. Effect of Sure Start on academic outcomes at age 11, by treatment length

Note: Children born after a Sure Start centre opened near them are displayed as having five or six years of Sure Start access, even though some of these years are before their birth.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the National Pupil Database.

The event study also demonstrates interesting dynamics with regards to the effect of a Sure Start centre opening on children who were between 0 and 4 when it opened. The estimate at '0' in Figure A.1 represents the effect on those who were aged 4 when a Sure Start centre first opened near them. Meanwhile, the estimate at '4' represents the effect on those who were born the year the centre opened, and years beyond that represent the effect on those who were born in the years after a centre opened. Therefore, those who are fully treated are those from '4' onwards, while those who are partially treated by Sure Start are those who were aged between 1 and 4 when a Sure Start centre opened, and so had between 0 and 3 years of Sure Start access on the graph.

Figure A.1 shows that the effects were much smaller for partially treated children than for fully treated children. Being partially exposed to Sure Start only increased Key Stage 2 grades by 1.3% of a standard deviation, less than a quarter of the effect on those fully exposed.

The other potential confounder of the difference-in-differences method that might cause our results to not capture the true effect of a Sure Start centre opening is if something else happened in areas where Sure Start centres opened at a similar time. In this case, we might be capturing the effect of these changes rather than of Sure Start. To test this, Cattan et al. (2025) estimate the link between the opening of Sure Start centres and a wide range of other impacts in the local area, which one would not expect to be affected by Sure Start. They find no clear effects, which

suggests that our results are not capturing any other latent trends in local communities, or any other policy impacts.

A.2 Changes to the methodology and results relative to prior reports

The methodology for evaluating the effect of living within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre has been updated and improved since the reports by Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024) on educational outcomes and Carneiro et al. (2024) on youth offending, school behaviour and interactions with children's social care. The key update has come from changes to the weighting of the sample.

In order to correct for differential trends between earlier- and later-treated areas in outcomes of interest for cohorts born more than five years before the opening of a Sure Start centre in their area, prior reports reweighted the sample upon two different axes. The first of these was the level of deprivation, using data at the local authority (LA) level from 1998 to 2003 and data at the lower super output area (LSOA) level from 2004 onwards. This more heavily weighted untreated areas with similar levels of deprivation to treated areas, and more heavily weighted treated areas with similar levels of deprivation to untreated areas.

For several sets of outcomes, there was evidence of differential trends even in areas with similar levels of deprivation. Therefore, the sample was also weighted based on pre-Sure-Start trends in relevant outcomes, with an approach that varied across outcomes. For education outcomes, the sample was weighted on trends in the outcome of interest at the LA level, while trends in youth conviction rates at the middle super output area (MSOA) were used for crime outcomes. No additional weighting was needed for social care outcomes. Results were therefore taken from the sample of treated and untreated areas that more closely resembled each other in their trends in relevant outcomes, as well as in their levels of deprivation.

In this report, we harmonise the methods across all outcomes for which we have data on children's address at age 5 from the NPD, for several reasons. The first is that the harmonisation of methods across different outcomes allows for more directly comparable results. The second is that the use of a new measure by which to weight by deprivation allows us to use only deprivation, and not any pre-treatment trends, as a control, simplifying the specification.

In this report, results are reweighted according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) at the electoral ward level from 2000, as opposed to previous results where we used a combination of the Index of Local Deprivation at the LA level from 1998 and the Index of Multiple Deprivation at the LSOA level from 2004. Given the focus of the Sure Start roll-out on reaching deprived wards, it is likely that this measure of deprivation most closely aligns with the deprivation

measure used when the location of Sure Start centres was decided. This provides a theoretical backing for the use of this measure: we should expect that conditional on this measure of deprivation – the main criterion for deciding the location of centres – areas getting Sure Start centres earlier compared with later should be relatively similar. This appears to be true for trends in the outcomes we consider, with similar pre-treatment trends in the areas with similar levels of ward-level deprivation that got a centre earlier or later. We therefore do not weight according to prior trends in this report.

Our results therefore capture the effect of Sure Start in exposed areas compared with unexposed areas having similar levels of deprivation at the ward level, whereas past results captured the effect of Sure Start when comparing areas with similar levels of local deprivation and similar trajectories in outcomes for previous cohorts. Since the interpretation of the former effect is cleaner, these estimates are preferred, though this has led to some changes in the results relative to previous reports.

Education effects are similar to those reported in Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024), though the effect sizes are somewhat larger: for example, the estimates in this report suggest that access to Sure Start increased performance at age 11 by 6.1% of a standard deviation, rather than the 4.2% in the previous report. Increases in GCSE results also imply larger financial benefits in the long run, increasing the ratio of benefits to costs. Effects on special educational needs have also changed in their composition, with effects entirely driven by reductions in SEN Support plans, and no statistically significant change in Education, Health and Care plans.

In other areas, similar changes to effect sizes have changed the statistical significance of certain results. The increase in youth cautions, which was close to zero in Carneiro et al. (2024), is statistically significant using the new methodology. Meanwhile, the reductions in youth convictions and custodial sentences, which were 13% and 20% respectively, have shrunk to 6% and 11% with the updated methodology and are no longer statistically significant, meaning that these effects can no longer be statistically distinguished from no effect at all.

Estimates of effects on behaviour in secondary school have also changed. For exclusions, the effect of Sure Start has flipped from a statistically significant increase to a reduction at age 16. For absences, we still observe an increase at age 16 – the only year of secondary school used in Carneiro et al. (2024) – but as this may reflect the role of study leave in absences from school that are specific to the GCSE exam period in Year 11, we now omit it from the report.

The final important changes to results stem from heterogeneity by type of centre and household income. Carneiro, Cattan and Ridpath (2024) reported that Sure Start generated significant improvements in academic performance for children eligible for free school meals and children living close to Sure Start Local Programmes, with evidence of weaker or no effects for those

from higher-income backgrounds or those who lived close to Sure Start Children's Centres. Using the new methodology, we find similar effects for FSM-eligible students and likely users of SSLPs, but we also find similarly sized significant and positive effects for higher-income students and those attending SSCCs.

A.3 'First-stage' estimates and the costbenefit analysis

To compute the effect of living near a Sure Start centre on attending one, we collect data from two sources. The first of these is the Evaluation of Children's Centres in England (ECCE) and the second is the Millennial Cohort Study (MCS). ECCE provides data from a survey of centres' registration data conducted in 2011 and 2012 (Goff et al., 2013; Maisey et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2014), while the MCS provides data from a survey of parents in 2004, including questions on usership of Sure Start.

When using ECCE to approximate the effect of living near a Sure Start centre on usership, we collect information on the number of children registered at the average centre (Smith et al., 2014), survey answers on what proportion of those registered ever used Sure Start (Maisey et al., 2013) and how far registered users lived from the Sure Start centre (Goff et al., 2013). From the NPD, we also use data on the number of children in each cohort who did and did not live within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre.

Using these sources, we first compute the proportion of children aged 0-4 in England who used Sure Start services. Data from surveys of all Sure Start centres show that the average centre had 770 children registered at it in 2012. Multiplying across the number of centres, this means that over 2.5 million children aged 0–4, or about 81% of this age group, were registered at a Sure Start centre. However, in many cases, children and families were automatically registered, such as when registration was closely linked to universal health visitor programmes, and in some cases they would never have had any contact with the Sure Start centre. The three ECCE reports referenced in the previous paragraph provide two different interpretations of usage: the first comes from data from centres, which report that 55% of the 0–4 age group had used the centre in the last year. This may be an underestimate of total usage, as some may have used it more than a year ago, perhaps to benefit from the services targeted at newborn children, and then not used it again. Meanwhile, the survey of registered users reports that only 11% of them had never used the centre, implying that approximately 89% of the registered population and 72% of the total age 0–4 population used a Sure Start centre at some point. This should be thought of as an upper bound on total usage, as it is based on a survey of registered users that did not have a 100% response rate, and we expect those who never used the centre to have been much less likely to respond to the survey. Therefore, our best estimate is that the proportion of children aged 0-4

using Sure Start in 2012 was between 55% and 72%. Because we do not have data for 2010, we use this estimate from 2012 as our best estimate of the proportion of children using Sure Start in 2010.

Using these bounds, data from the NPD on the proportion of children who lived within 2.5km of a Sure Start centre and the proportion of Sure Start users who lived within 2.5km - which Goff et al. (2013) estimate to be approximately 90% – we now estimate the impact of living within 2.5km (as opposed to further away) on the probability of using Sure Start services. To do this, we use data on where children lived, from the last cohort we have detailed data on (those born in 2006, whose exposure to Sure Start would have ended in 2010). There were about 625,000 children born in 2006 who appear in our sample. From our lower and upper bounds, we estimate that between 345,000 and 450,000 of them attended a Sure Start centre. If 90% of attendees lived within 2.5km of a centre, this means that, in the upper-bound case, around 405,000 children (or 79% of those who lived nearby) lived near a centre and attended, and about 45,000 (or 40%) of those who did not live nearby attended anyway. This, in turn, implies that living near a Sure Start centre made children 39 percentage points more likely to attend. Of the 625,000 children born in 2006 who appear in our sample, around 510,000 lived near a centre and around 115,000 did not (based on our calculations in the NPD). In the lower-bound case, about 60% of those who lived nearby attended and about 30% of those who did not live nearby attended. This, in turn, implies that living near a Sure Start centre made children 30 percentage points more likely to attend.

A.4 Effects on maternal employment

In addition to their focus on children's health and development, Sure Start centres also brought together existing services to support parental employment. Many SSLPs and SSCCs developed programmes such as language classes, employability workshops, or signposting to education and employment services. Children's Centres were required to develop links with Jobcentre Plus, an existing network of government-run agencies to support the unemployed in finding work. Signposting to and provision of childcare could also have affected parents' employment.

While parental employment outcomes are important in their own right, an increase in parental employment may also impact on children's development through higher family income and/or less parental time with children. To investigate the likely importance of this channel, we use the UK's Labour Force Survey (LFS) to analyse how access to Sure Start affected maternal employment.³³

³³ This section draws heavily on appendix D in Cattan et al. (2025).

Data and outcomes

The LFS is collected in a staggered five-quarter rolling panel, with households entering the survey at different points in the year and then remaining in the sample for five consecutive quarters. We use a secure access version of the LFS that contains information both on the household's local authority of residence and on the precise birth date of all household members. To mirror our hospitalisation analysis, we focus on mothers whose children were all born between 1993 and 2006. To avoid mothers of newborn children (who most often take several months of maternity leave), we further restrict the sample to mothers who did not give birth during the period that they were in the LFS sample.

As our primary outcome, we focus on an indicator for whether a mother is in paid work at the time she is surveyed by the LFS. As secondary outcomes, we consider whether mothers work part-time (fewer than 30 hours a week) or full-time, and whether they are in full-time education. Since mothers are observed up to five times in the LFS, each mother can be included multiple times in our model.

Sure Start treatment

Since existing evidence suggests that the strongest effects should be found among mothers whose youngest child is eligible for support (e.g. Brewer et al., 2022), we focus on the Sure Start treatment a mother experiences in respect of her youngest child. Specifically, we use the same measure of Sure Start coverage as in our hospitalisation analysis (centres per 1,000 children aged 0–4 in the local authority, averaged over the child's first five years of life – or until the time that the outcomes are measured, if the child is under 5 years old). We assign this measure of Sure Start coverage to mothers based on the year and month of birth of their youngest child and their local authority of residence when they are first observed in the LFS.

Empirical strategy

To evaluate the impact of access to Sure Start on maternal employment, we estimate:

$$y_{iwt}^{a} = \alpha + \delta^{a}SS_{dq} + \pi_{w} + \lambda_{t} + \gamma_{it}^{m} + \phi^{a,k}g_{it}^{k} * K_{i} + \beta^{a}X_{i} + \varepsilon_{wdmt}^{a}$$

where y_{iwt}^a is the outcome variable, an indicator for whether mother *i* living in ward *w* is in work in year–quarter *t* when her youngest child is *a* years old. We estimate the model separately for each age of the youngest child from 0 to 15. SS_{dq} is the average Sure Start coverage of the mother's youngest child, based on the year–quarter of birth *q* and where the family resides when they enter the LFS (the local authority *d* that contains ward *w*). In line with our difference-in-

differences approach, we control for fixed effects both for place (ward-level fixed effects π_w) and for time (year–quarter fixed effects λ_t).³⁴

We also include a range of controls to account for other characteristics that might be correlated with both the roll-out of Sure Start and maternal employment. One particularly important set of controls relates to the age of both the focal child and any other siblings in the household. We therefore include γ_{it}^{m} , a set of fixed effects for the youngest child's age in months *m* at the time mother *i* is observed in year–quarter *t*. We also control for the age (in years) of up to four older siblings, interacting an indicator K_i for whether there is a k^{th} youngest child in the family with a continuous variable g_{it}^{k} measuring that child's age in years.

Finally, since we estimate this specification at the individual level, we are able to include controls for key individual characteristics X_i . We include characteristics pre-determined at the time of potential Sure Start exposure, namely mother's ethnicity and age; in alternate specifications we also include education and partnership status.

Results

In Figure A.2, we show the estimated impact of Sure Start on maternal employment rates for mothers with youngest children at different ages. We find few statistically significant effects (though there are increases in employment rates for mothers whose youngest child is aged 1 or 6). More importantly, there are few clear patterns across ages.

In appendix D of Cattan et al. (2025), we do further analysis to show that this mixed pattern of results persists when we change the specification (including fewer or more controls), when we examine effects for different subgroups, and when we group together mothers with children of a similar (but not the same) age. Overall, we interpret this as fairly weak evidence, suggesting that Sure Start did not strongly and consistently raise maternal employment rates (even among those whose youngest child was eligible for Sure Start, which is the group most likely to respond).

³⁴ Because each specification is estimated on a single year of age, we cannot control for both a child's date of birth and the time of outcome measurement.



Figure A.2. Impact of youngest child's Sure Start coverage on mother's employment

Note: Coefficients for each age are estimated in separate specifications. Vertical bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Source: Authors' calculations using data from the UK Labour Force Survey and the Department for Education's data on the roll-out of Sure Start. Adapted from figure D.1 in Cattan et al. (2025).

References

- Anderberg, D. and Olympiou, C., 2023. Children's social care and early intervention policy: evidence from Sure Start. *Economica*, 90, 953–77.
- Anders, J., Barr, A. C. and Smith, A. A., 2023. The effect of early childhood education on adult criminality: evidence from the 1960s through 1990s. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 15(1), 37–69.
- Baker, M., Gruber, J. and Milligan, K, 2008. Universal child care, maternal labour supply and family wellbeing. *Journal of Political Economy*, 116(4), 709–45.
- Belfield, C., Farquharson, C. and Sibieta, L., 2018. 2018 annual report on education spending in England. IFS Report, <u>https://ifs.org.uk/publications/2018-annual-report-education-spending-england</u>.
- Blunt, I., 2013. Focus on preventable admissions: trends in emergency admissions for ambulatory care sensitive conditions, 2001 to 2013. QualityWatch.
- Bolt, U., French, E., Hentall-MacCuish, J. and O'Dea, C., 2021. The intergenerational elasticity of earnings: exploring the mechanisms. IFS Working Paper W21/07, <u>https://ifs.org.uk/publications/intergenerational-elasticity-earnings-exploring-mechanisms</u>.
- Bouchal, P. and Norris, E., 2014. Implementing Sure Start Children's Centres. Institute for Government, <u>https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/Implementing%20Sure%20Star</u> t%20Childrens%20Centres%20-%20final_0.pdf.
- Brewer, M., Cattan, S., Crawford, C. and Rabe, B., 2022. Does more free childcare help parents work more? *Labour Economics*, 74, 102100.
- Britton, J., Farquharson, C. and Sibieta, L., 2019. 2019 annual report on education spending in England. IFS Report, https://ifs.org.uk/publications/2019-annual-report-education-spending-england.
- Callaway, B. and Sant'anna, P. H. C., 2021. Difference-in-differences with multiple time periods. *Journal of Econometrics*, 225(2), 200–30.
- Carneiro, P., Cattan, S., Conti, G., Crawford, C., Drayton, E., Farquharson, C. and Ridpath, N., 2024. The effect of Sure Start on youth misbehaviour, crime and contacts with children's social care. IFS Report, https://ifs.org.uk/publications/effect-sure-start-youth-misbehaviour-crime-and-contacts-childrens-social-care.

- Carneiro, P., Cattan, S. and Ridpath, N, 2024. The short- and medium-term impacts of Sure Start on educational outcomes. IFS Report, <u>https://ifs.org.uk/publications/short-and-medium-term-impacts-sure-start-educational-outcomes</u>.
- Carneiro, P. and Ginja, R., 2014. Long-term impacts of compensatory preschool on health and behavior: evidence from Head Start. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 6, 135–73.
- Carrell, S. and Hoekstra, M., 2010. Externalities in the classroom: how children exposed to domestic violence affect everyone's kids. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 2(1), 211–28.
- Cattan, S., Conti, G., Farquharson, C., Ginja, R. and Pecher, M., 2021. The health impacts of Sure Start. IFS Report, <u>https://ifs.org.uk/publications/health-impacts-sure-start</u>.
- Cattan, S., Conti, G., Farquharson, C., Ginja, R. and Pecher, M., 2025. The health effects of universal early childhood interventions: evidence from Sure Start. IFS Working Paper 25/20, <u>https://ifs.org.uk/publications/health-effects-universal-early-childhood-interventions-evidence-sure-start-</u><u>0</u>.
- Children, Schools and Families Committee, 2010. Sure Start Children's Centres. Fifth Report of Session 2009–10, House of Commons, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200910/cmselect/cmchilsch/130/13002.htm.
- Conti, G., Heckman, J. J. and Pinto, R., 2016. The effects of two influential early childhood interventions on health and healthy behaviour. *Economic Journal*, 126, F28–65.
- Cunha, F., Heckman, J. and Schennach, S. M., 2010. Estimating the technology of cognitive and noncognitive skill formation. *Econometrica*, 78(3), 883–931.
- Currie, J., 2009. Healthy, wealthy, and wise: socioeconomic status, poor health in childhood, and human capital development. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 47, 87–122.
- Daysal, N. M., Ding, H., Rossin-Slater, M. and Schwandt, H., 2024. Germs in the family: the short- and long-term consequences of intra-household disease spread. NBER Working Paper 29524.
- Department for Education, 2025. Pupil absence in schools in England: 2023/24. <u>https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england/2023-24</u>.
- Department for Education and Employment, 1999. Sure Start: a guide for trailblazers.
- Fort, M., Ichino, A. and Zanella, G., 2016. Cognitive and non-cognitive costs of daycare 0–2 for girls. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), Discussion Paper 9756, <u>https://docs.iza.org/dp9756.pdf</u>.
- Fright, M. and Davies, N., 2023. Performance Tracker 2023: children's social care. Institute for Government, https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/performance-tracker-2023/childrens-social-care.

- Gaviria, A. and Raphael, S., 2001. School-based peer effects and juvenile behavior. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 83(2), 257–68.
- Goff, J., Hall, J., Sylva, K., Smith, T., Smith, G., Eisenstadt, N., Sammons, P., Evangelou, M., Smees, R. and Chu, K., 2013. Evaluation of Children's Centres in England (ECCE): Strand 3: delivery of family services by Children's Centres. Department for Education, Research Report DFE-RR297, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7cc90fe5274a2f304f00f4/DFE-RR297.pdf.
- Hendren, N. and Sprung-Keyser, B., 2020. A unified welfare analysis of government policies. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 15, 1209–318.
- HM Treasury, 1998. Comprehensive Spending Review 1998.
- Hoare, P. and Beattie, T., 2003. Children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and attendance at hospital. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 10(2), 98–100.
- Hodge, L., Little, A. and Weldon, M., 2021. GCSE attainment and lifetime earnings. Department for Education, Research Report DFE-RR1131, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60c36f0cd3bf7f4bd11a2326/GCSE_Attainment_and_Lifet_ime_Earnings_PDF3A.pdf</u>.
- Maisey, R., Speight, S. and Haywood, S. with Hall, J., Sammons, P., Hussey, D., Goff, J., Evangelou, M. and Sylva, K., 2013. Evaluation of Children's Centres in England (ECCE): Strand 2: baseline survey of families using Children's Centres in the most disadvantaged areas. Department for Education, Research Report DFE-RR260, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7a3a8140f0b66a2fc00d2e/DFE-RR260.pdf</u>.
- Meadows, P. et al., 2011. National evaluation of Sure Start Local Programmes: an economic perspective. Department for Education, Research Report DFE-RR073, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7b2907ed915d429748d3d5/DFE-RR073.pdf</u>.
- Melhuish, E., Belsky, J., Leyland, A. H. and Barnes, J., 2008. Effects of fully-established Sure Start Local Programmes on 3-year-old children and their families living in England: a quasi-experimental observational study. *The Lancet*, 372, 1641–7.
- National Audit Office, 2006. Sure Start Children's Centres. HC 104 Session 2006–07, https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2006/12/0607104.pdf.
- National Audit Office, 2009. Sure Start Children's Centres: memorandum for the Children, Schools and Families Committee. <u>https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/01/0910_sure_start_memorandum.pdf</u>.

107The short- and medium-term effects of Sure Start on children's outcomes

- National Evaluation of Sure Start team, 2010. The impact of Sure Start Local Programmes on five year olds and their families. Department for Education, Research Report DFE-RR067, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7ae2d8e5274a319e77b6ac/DFE-RR067.pdf</u>.
- Pugh, G., 2010. The policy agenda for early childhood services. In G. Pugh and B. Duffy (eds), *Contemporary Issues in the Early Years* (5th edition), SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Sammons, P., Hall, J., Smees, R. and Goff, J. with Sylva, K., Smith, T., Evangelou, M., Eisenstadt, N. and Smith, G., 2015. The impact of Children's Centres: studying the effects of Children's Centres in promoting better outcomes for young children and their families. Department for Education, Research Report DFE-RR495, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a80acdb40f0b62305b8c838/DFE-RR495 Evaluation of children s centres in England the impact of children s centres.pdf</u>
- Stewart, K., 2013. Labour's record on the under fives: policy, spending and outcomes 1997-2010. Social Policy in a Cold Climate, Working Paper 4, <u>https://sticerd.lse.ac.uk/dps/case/spcc/wp04.pdf</u>.
- Tunstill, J., Meadows, P., Allnock, D., Akhurst, S. and Garbers, C., 2005. Implementing Sure Start Local Programmes: an integrated overview of the first four years. Sure Start National Evaluation Report 10.
- van den Berg, G. J. and Siflinger, B. M., 2022. The effects of a daycare reform on health in childhood: evidence from Sweden. *Journal of Health Economics*, 81, 102577.

Data

Department for Education. (2019). National Pupil Database. [data series]. 2nd Release. UK Data Service. SN: 2000108, <u>DOI: http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-Series-2000108</u>